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	 Highlights of the Year

Highlights of the Year

We took You Be the Judge on the road to the Hume 
region holding sessions in Wangaratta, Shepparton 
and Wodonga.

We conducted over 20 community education 
and training sessions – a mix of You Be the Judge 

sessions and SACStat workshops.

We welcomed two new Directors who bring 
fresh perspectives on victim–survivors and 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander matters to the 
Council’s deliberations.

We published six research reports on significant and 
diverse sentencing topics including deportation and 
sentencing and crossover kids.
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Our work was cited in close to 100 judicial 
decisions and referenced over 50 times in peer-

reviewed journal articles, books, research papers, 
government publications, parliamentary reports 

and submissions to inquiries.

We launched our new website providing a fresh look 
and an enhanced, user-friendly experience for our 
visitors.

Our popular A Quick Guide to Sentencing has 
been downloaded over 11,500 times since its 

release in 2015.

We consulted with over 30 agencies, organisations 
and academics in conducting our research.

We grew our Twitter audience to over 6,700 followers.

In response to COVID-19 restrictions, the Council’s secretariat 
transitioned to working from home with minimal disruption 
to our work program.
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	 Chair and CEO’s Report

Sentencing Advisory Council

Chair and CEO’s Report

This financial year, the Council has had a strong focus on the sentencing of children and 

young people as part of an overarching theme on examining pathways to imprisonment. 

The Council’s previous research showed that the younger children were at first sentence, 

the more likely they were to reoffend generally, reoffend violently, continue offending 

into the adult criminal jurisdiction and be sentenced to imprisonment as a young 

adult. Understanding pathways to imprisonment helps identify opportunities for early 

intervention aimed at reducing criminal behaviours and increasing community safety.

The Council has undertaken a major study of over 5,000 children sentenced or diverted in 

2016 and 2017 in the Children’s Court. The Council’s first report on these children, published 

in June 2019, found that 38% had been the subject of at least one child protection report 

in their lifetime.  These children are referred to colloquially in the study as ‘crossover kids’: 

children known to both the child protection and the youth justice systems.

The Council’s second report in this series, published in April 2020, furthered the analysis 

of data provided by the Department of Health and Human Services and the Children’s 

Court of Victoria. The report’s findings demonstrate the need to increase support for 

children in the out-of-home care system and effectively address the underlying causes of 

potential offending, particularly for children who have experienced trauma. The findings 

also suggest that youth justice legislation should recognise the relevance of trauma and 

child protection involvement when sentencing children.  Consideration should be given 

to assessing the effect of trauma on a child’s development and on their capacity to avoid 

problematic behaviour.  

The report’s findings also demonstrate that a higher proportion of sentenced and 

diverted children is known to child protection in regional Victoria than in the Melbourne 

metropolitan area. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children are substantially over-

represented among crossover kids sentenced or diverted in regional Victoria, even 

accounting for higher Aboriginal populations in some parts of the state.  

Understanding pathways to imprisonment helps identify opportunities for 
early intervention aimed at reducing criminal behaviours and increasing 
community safety.
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The Council’s third and final report in this series, published in June 2020, moves beyond the 

data to suggest measures that may assist in addressing the causes of a child’s offending.  

These measures include improving the interface between the Family and the Criminal 

Divisions of the Children’s Court and expanding the availability of the specialised Children’s 

Court services to Victoria’s regional court headquarters. 

The Council is especially grateful for the support of the Department of Health and Human 

Services and the Children’s Court over the course of this research project. 

In December 2020, the Council published research reviewing the scientific evidence on 

the neurological development of young adult offenders (aged 18 to 25 inclusive) and the 

current law on sentencing this age group. Young adult offenders are over-represented 

in Victoria’s criminal justice system and have higher reoffending rates than their older 

counterparts.  The Council suggests options that could supplement the currently limited 

range of sentencing options available for this developmentally distinct group of offenders 

and help address the drivers of their offending behaviour.

The Council invested considerable time this financial year undertaking data linkage and 

analysis for our report on sentencing outcomes for children and young people held on 

remand.  We expect to publish the report early in 2020–21. 

The Council’s full research program is discussed in more detail later in this report. In 

undertaking this work, the Council aims to provide policy-makers with the information 

they need to pursue sentencing reforms grounded on evidence. Pleasingly, the Council’s 

research continues to be widely cited in a variety of reports, peer-reviewed journals and 

judicial decisions.

In addition to completing our research program, the Council has published three years 

of new Magistrates’ Court sentencing data in SACStat, our publicly available sentencing 

database.  We have also refreshed the sentencing trends on our website and six of our 

Sentencing Snapshots. Providing updated sentencing data is in keeping with our statutory 

remit to provide statistical information on sentencing. These products utilise aggregate 

data and do not purport to reflect the details and nuances of the individual cases 

considered by the courts.  Rather they provide simple measures of current sentencing 

practice that help inform both the judiciary and the wider community.

The Council provides the community with numerous educational resources on sentencing, 

from A Quick Guide to Sentencing, which is aimed at informing students, to our Guide to 

Sentencing Schemes in Victoria, which is aimed at assisting the legal profession. We also 

reach out to the community through our You Be the Judge program.  In addition to 

delivering this program to metropolitan-based community leadership groups and tertiary 

institutions, the Council continued its partnership with the Magistrates’ Court of Victoria to 

bring the program to regional Victoria at local courthouses.  This financial year, the Council 

presented You Be the Judge in the Hume region, in Shepparton, Wangaratta and Wodonga.  
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	 Chair and CEO’s Report

A r i e  F r e i b e r g

Chair

C y n t h i a  M a r w o o d

Chief Executive Officer

The Council’s planned tour of the Barwon region during Law Week in May 2020 had to be 

postponed due to the COVID-19 restrictions. However, during Law Week the Council trialled 

its first online delivery of the program with great success, and we thank the Council’s 

Senior Education and Engagement Officer for moving the program online to bring it 

to the community.

The Council’s website is our face to the community, receiving more than half a million page 

hits each year.  This financial year we updated the website, making it more user friendly 

and giving it a fresh, new look.  We thank those people who gave graciously of their time to 

assist us with user testing the new website.

Over this financial year, the Council has continued to increase its social media audience: an 

important means of raising awareness of the Council’s work within the broader community.

We pay tribute to the Council’s secretariat, who have delivered the Council’s work 

program despite the restrictions arising from the COVID-19 outbreak. Our secretariat has 

continued to produce high-quality work while working from home, often in less than ideal 

circumstances. We also recognise the excellent work of the Council’s Senior Publications 

and Website Officer who, in addition to giving all the Council’s publications a professional 

finish, was responsible for leading the redevelopment of the Council’s website.  

This financial year, we welcomed Susanna Quinn and Meena Singh as new Directors who, 

respectively, bring new perspectives on victim–survivors and Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander matters to the Council’s deliberations.  We thank all the Council Directors who give 

so generously of their time and expertise in setting the Council’s direction and ensuring the 

quality of the Council’s research and other projects.

We thank the Council’s Chief Finance and Accounting Officer and the Audit and Finance 

Committee who have guided us through a very unusual financial year with their 

practical advice.

We also thank Anna Faithfull, Deputy Secretary Justice Policy and Data Reform, for her 

support and guidance over the course of the financial year.

Finally, we thank the Council’s many stakeholders who also give so generously of their time 

during consultations and whose enthusiasm for the Council’s work is humbling. 
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Functions and Objectives

Our Functions
The Sentencing Advisory Council is an independent statutory body established under Part 

9A of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic).

Section 108C of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) provides that the functions of the Council are to:

(a)	 state in writing to the Court of Appeal its views in relation to the giving, or review, of a 

guideline judgment;

(b)	 provide statistical information on sentencing, including information on current 

sentencing practices to members of the judiciary and other interested persons;

(c)	 conduct research and disseminate information to members of the judiciary and other 

interested persons on sentencing matters;

(d)	 gauge public opinion on sentencing matters;

(e)	 consult on sentencing matters with government departments and other interested 

persons and bodies as well as the general public; and

(f)	 advise the Attorney-General on sentencing issues.

In addition, the Corrections Act 1986 (Vic) requires the Council to report annually on the 

number of persons convicted each financial year of a ‘serious offence’ committed while 

subject to a community correction order.  

The Council was established to allow properly ascertained and informed public opinion 

to be taken into account in the criminal justice system on a permanent and formal basis. 

This is, in part, achieved through the membership of the Council. It is composed of people 

with a wide range of backgrounds, including broad community experience in issues 

affecting courts, as well as police, legal practitioners, members of victim of crime support 

or advocacy groups, and others with broad experience in the operation of the criminal 

justice system.
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	 Functions and Objectives

Our Mission
The Council’s mission is to:

Bridge the gap between the community, the courts and the government by informing, educating 
and advising on sentencing issues.

The Council’s work revolves around providing sound evidence on which to base sentencing 

policies and practices and increasing community confidence in those sentencing policies 

and practices.

Context of Our Role
The Council addresses a range of needs. Key needs are identified below, which also 

describes the relationship between these needs, our role (with reference to the statutory 

functions set out in section 108C(1) of the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic)) and the benefits that 

flow from our work.

Our Guiding Principles
The Council has agreed on a set of guiding principles that underpin the way in which we 

carry out our functions. The objective is to ensure that our work is of the highest quality 

and that we maintain productive and responsive relationships with our stakeholders.

The Council is committed to: 

•	 continuously improving the Council’s online sentencing data;

•	 preparing authoritative, evidence-based advice in response to all terms of reference;

•	 developing and delivering an annual research program that informs community debate 

on sentencing issues;

•	 engaging with stakeholders to identify emerging issues and research priorities;

•	 providing current, plain-language sentencing information on our website and in our 

educational materials; 

•	 involving the community and other stakeholders in our research and decision-making; 

and

•	 supporting and developing staff.
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2. Provide independent, high-
quality sentencing research 

and policy advice (a), (c), (f)

1. Provide accurate and 
reliable sentencing 

data and analysis (b)

4. Consult widely and 
gauge public opinion on 
sentencing matters (d), (e)

3. Provide information to 
members of the community 

about sentencing (b), (c)

Our Role

Need for accurate and credible 

data on sentencing

Need for information about how 

courts pass sentence

Need for members of the 

community to feel they have a 

voice in sentencing issues

Need for information on the 

operation of sentencing law

Information on current sentencing 
practices is readily available • sentencing 
is more transparent and consistent

Sentencing reforms 
are evidence based

Sentencing processes are 
understandable to the community

Victorians are confident their views on 
sentencing have been heard and have been 
taken into account in the reform process

Victorians are more 
confident in sentencing

The community has a greater 
understanding of the rationale of 

sentencing reforms

Context of the Council’s role
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	 Council Directors

Council Directors

The Council’s directors come from a broad spectrum of professional and 
community backgrounds and represent a range of perspectives.  During the 
financial year, we welcomed Susanna Quinn and Meena Singh.

Professor Arie Freiberg AM (Chair)

Profile – senior member of an academic institution

Emeritus Professor Arie Freiberg is an authority on sentencing issues and the 

criminal justice system and has undertaken extensive research on sentencing 

theory, policy and practice. He was Dean of Law at Monash University from 2004 to 2012 and 

has served as a consultant on sentencing matters to the Commonwealth, Victorian, South 

Australian and Western Australian governments as well as to the Australian Law Reform 

Commission and South African Law Reform Commission. Professor Freiberg was appointed as 

Chair of the Tasmanian Sentencing Advisory Council in 2013.

Council meetings attended: 10/10

Lisa Ward (Deputy Chair)

Profile – operation of the criminal justice system

Lisa Ward has extensive experience in a range of human services, including 

juvenile justice, child protection and adult corrections. For the last two 

decades, she has operated a human services consulting business, providing research, 

program evaluation and policy review services to government and community organisations.

Council meetings attended: 9/10

Carmel Arthur

Profile – operation of the criminal justice system

Carmel Arthur has great personal insight and a unique comprehension of the 

operation of the criminal justice system.  She is not only a victim of crime but 

has also worked with many victims of crime. She advocates better treatment of victims and 

their families through the criminal justice process and is particularly conscious of the need to 

keep the community engaged and informed about the justice system.   Carmel is a founding 

member of the Sentencing Advisory Council and was a long-term community member of the 

Adult Parole Board until her appointment as a full-time member of the newly established 

Post-Sentence Authority in 2018. Carmel was appointed to the board of the Penington 

Institute in 2018.  She has vast experience in the criminal justice system, particularly with 

courts, Corrections and Victoria Police.  

Council meetings attended: 10/10
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Hugh de Kretser

Profile – community issues affecting courts

Hugh de Kretser is the Executive Director of the Human Rights Law Centre. 

He has extensive legal practice and policy experience in the criminal justice 

system, working on both offender and victim issues. He previously worked for six years as the 

Executive Officer of the Federation of Community Legal Centres and was a commissioner on 

the Victorian Law Reform Commission from 2008 to 2012.

Council meetings attended: 5/10 (on long service leave from February 2020 to June 2020)

Fiona Dowsley

Profile – operation of the criminal justice system

Fiona Dowsley has over 15 years’ experience in building the evidence base in crime 

and justice to support improved research and decision-making. She was previously 

Director of the National Centre for Crime and Justice Statistics at the Australian Bureau of Statistics 

and has collaborated in the international sphere, including with the United Nations Office on Drugs 

and Crime Task Force to develop an international classification of crime. She was appointed as 

the founding Chief Statistician of the Crime Statistics Agency in Victoria in January 2014 and is also 

Executive Director, Evidence and Insights, at the Department of Justice and Community Safety.

Council meetings attended: 9/10

Helen Fatouros

Profile – operation of the criminal justice system

Helen Fatouros has worked within the criminal justice system for over 19 years 

as a lawyer and leader within prosecutions and the legal assistance sector. 

Her previous roles include Executive Director Criminal Law Services at Victoria Legal Aid, Legal 

Prosecution Specialist, and Directorate Manager Specialist Sex Offences at the Victorian Office of 

Public Prosecutions.  In 2012, Helen led the Sexual Offences Interactive Legal Education Program, 

earning her the Law Institute of Victoria’s 2013 President’s Award for Government Lawyer of the 

Year.  Helen was also a Commissioner of the Victorian Law Reform Commission from 2014 to 2018.

Council meetings attended: 6/10

David Grace AM QC

Profile – highly experienced defence lawyer

David Grace has over 40 years’ experience as a legal practitioner, particularly 

in criminal law. He has appeared in numerous court jurisdictions in many 

leading criminal cases, including in sentencing law, and he regularly appears in the High Court 

and the Court of Appeal. He is a former Chair of the Criminal Law Sections of the Law Institute 

of Victoria and the Law Council of Australia.

Council meetings attended: 8/10
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	 Council Directors

John Griffin PSM

Profile – operation of the criminal justice system

John Griffin has over 40 years’ experience in the operation of criminal justice 

systems, including senior executive roles in both the Victorian correctional 

system and the Victorian court system.  He is currently a member of the Mental Health 

Tribunal and the Post-Sentence Authority.

Council meetings attended: 8/10

Sherril Handley

Profile – member of the police force of the rank of senior sergeant or below 

who is actively engaged in criminal law enforcement duties

Inspector Sergeant Sherril Handley has spent a significant portion of her 

career working as a criminal prosecutor and lawyer attached to the Victoria 

Police Legal Services Department. Sherril’s strong victim-centric focus has seen her represent 

Victoria Police interstate and in New Zealand in relation to family violence law reform. Her 

passion for improving victim service delivery has also seen her support a recommendation 

of the Royal Commission into Family Violence by designing and delivering flexible, state-wide 

prosecutor training to police officers and police lawyers. Sherril commenced her work on 

the Sentencing Advisory Council as an acting senior sergeant and has progressed to the 

rank of inspector during her tenure. After returning to operational policing for 12 months, 

Sherril is now designing training for investigators at the Centre for Family Violence at the 

Police Academy. 

Council meetings attended: 8/10

Brendan Kissane QC

Profile – highly experienced prosecution lawyer

Brendan Kissane has been a barrister for 35 years. He commenced his 

legal career as a solicitor with the Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service and has 

practised principally in criminal law, with 30 years’ experience in that area. He 

was appointed as a Crown Prosecutor in 2007, Senior Crown Prosecutor in 2015 and Chief 

Crown Prosecutor in 2018. As a Crown Prosecutor, he was assigned to the Specialist Sexual 

Offences Unit. He was the first Crown Prosecutor in the Geelong Office of Public Prosecutions, 

and for the last eight years he has been appearing regularly in the Court of Appeal. 

Council meetings attended: 8/10
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Susanna Quinn

Profile – operation of the criminal justice system

Susanna Quinn commenced employment at the Office of Public Prosecutions 

(Victim and Witness Assistance Service) as a social work practitioner in 2009.  

She has been manager of the service since late 2017. Susanna has over 20 years’ experience 

in social work practice. She has worked in the areas of homelessness, family violence, child 

protection, juvenile justice, and youth and family counselling, as well as in the acute hospital 

setting at the Alfred Hospital’s Intensive Care Unit. Susanna is currently a serving member of 

the Victims of Crime Consultative Committee.

Council meetings attended: 8/8 (appointed from October 2020)

Meena Singh

Profile – operation of the criminal justice system

Meena is a Yorta Yorta woman also of Indian descent, born and raised on 

Wurundjeri country and currently living on Boonwurrong country. A qualified 

lawyer, Meena has practiced with both Victoria Legal Aid and the Victorian 

Aboriginal Legal Service, where she has also held senior management roles including 

Associate Director, Aboriginal Services (Victoria Legal Aid) and Director, Legal Practice and 

Acting CEO (Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service).  As a consultant, Meena has collaborated with 

Aboriginal community-controlled organisations, not-for-profit organisations, government 

and private enterprise to deliver professional-development training and organisational 

development strategies. Meena has commenced her PhD at Melbourne Law School, 

University of Melbourne, focusing on how lived experience becomes knowledge for working 

with women of colour as clients in the area of family abuse and violence.

Council meetings attended: 4/7 (appointed from November 2020)

Wendy Steendam

Profile – operation of the criminal justice system

In November 2018, Wendy Steendam was appointed as Deputy Commissioner, 

Specialist Operations, with portfolio responsibility for Counter Terrorism 

Command, Crime Command, Road Policing Command, Intelligence and Covert 

Support Command, Forensic Services Department and Legal Services Department. Wendy 

is a highly respected police leader with over 34 years’ experience.  She has performed 

significant senior executive roles across Victoria Police and was appointed Deputy 

Commissioner in August 2015. She was also Executive Sponsor for the 2015 Victorian Equal 

Opportunity and Human Rights Commission’s independent review of sex discrimination and 

sexual harassment.

Council meetings attended: 8/10 
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	 Council Secretariat

The sessional Council directors are supported by secretariat staff who 
undertake the Council’s daily work.

Council Secretariat

Secretariat Staff 2019–20

Chief Executive Officer
Cynthia Marwood

Legal Policy and Community 
Engagement

Manager, Legal Policy and Community 
Engagement

Anusha Kenny (extended leave from 

January 2020)

Acting Manager, Legal Policy and 
Community Engagement

Paul McGorrery (from January 2020)

Principal Legal Policy Officer

Felicity Stewart

Senior Legal Policy Officer

Paul McGorrery (to January 2020)

Legal Policy Officer

Anna Chalton

Octavian Simu (from March 2020)

Senior Education and Engagement Officer

Chris Gill

Research Assistant

Octavian Simu (January 2020 to March 2020)

Statistics and Data

Manager, Statistical Analysis

Paul Schollum (from March 2020)

Dennis Byles (to January 2020)

Senior Data Analyst

Dennis Byles (from February 2020)

Zsombor Bathy

Data Analyst

Dugan Dallimore (from April 2020)

Hoa Nguyen (to January 2020)

Publishing

Senior Publications and Website Officer

Catherine Jeffreys

Administration

Operations Manager

Sarah Lappin

Administrative Assistant

Dakota Groepes (to February 2020)

Chief Finance and Accounting Officer

Michael Almond

Secretariat staff bring skills from a range of disciplines such as criminal law theory and 

practice, policy development, criminology, data analysis, publishing, administration and 

community education and engagement to assist the Council in meeting its objectives.
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Organisational Chart 
as at 30 June 2020

Council Chair and 
Board of Directors

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Finance and 
Accounting Officer 

(casual)

Operations 
Manager

Manager, Legal Policy and 
Community Engagement

Principal Legal Policy 
Officer (FTE 0.6)

Legal Policy 
Officer

Legal Policy 
Officer

Senior Education and 
Engagement Coordinator

Manager, 
Statistical Analysis

Senior Data 
Analysit

Senior Data 
Analysit (FTE 0.6)

Data 
Analyst 

Senior Publications 
and Website Officer
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	 Our Work in Action

Offences 
against the 

Person

Homicide

Our Work in Action Highlights

As at 30 June 2020, the Council has published 241 Sentencing Snapshots, 
mainly focusing on offences sentenced in the County and Supreme Courts 
of Victoria (the higher courts). During 2019–20, Snapshots were referred to 
in over 80 published decisions in the higher courts and the Court of Appeal.

The Council’s research reports were also referenced in a number of higher 
courts cases.

Citations in Cases

Causing Injury Intentionally Lim v The Queen [2019] VSCA 182 (16 August 2019)
Causing Injury Recklessly DPP v Nairn-Payne [2020] VCC 865 (15 June 2020)

Causing Serious Injury Intentionally The Queen v Gencev & Newman [2019] VSC 502 
(26 July 2019) • Tan v The Queen [2019] VSCA 226 (14 October 2019) • Lukudu v 

The Queen [2019] VSCA 248 (6 November 2019) • DPP v Murdoch [2020] VSC 
244 (7 May 2020) • R v Abdi & Anor [2020] VSC 225 (30 April 2020) • DPP v 

Jenkins [2020] VCC 749 (4 June 2020) • DPP v Acikoglu [2020] VCC 848 (12 
June 2020)
Causing Serious Injury Recklessly DPP v Beattie [2019] VCC 1953 (25 
November 2019) • DPP v Craig [2019] VCC 1957 (25 November 2019) • 
The Queen v Donnelly [2019] VSC 777 (28 November 2019) • DPP v Singh 

[2020] VCC 700 (8 May 2020)
Making a Threat to Kill Ballantyne v The Queen [2020] VSCA 115 (11 May 

2020) • DPP v Carr (A Pseudonym) [2019] VCC 1750 (24 October 2019) • DPP v 
Jenkins [2020] VCC 749 (4 June 2020)

Culpable Driving Causing Death DPP v Fetalaiga [2019] VCC 1695 (16 
October 2019) • R v Sharif [2020] VSC 226 (30 April 2020)

Manslaughter DPP v Frost [2019] VSC 672 (10 October 2019) • DPP v 
Awad [2019] VSC 706 (25 October 2019) • R v Sharif [2020] VSC 226 (30 
April 2020)
Murder R v Stone [2019] VSC 452 (12 July 2019) • The Queen v Solmaz 
[2019] VSC 530 (12 August 2019) • The Queen v Novakovic [2019] VSC 556 
(23 August 2019) • The Queen v Bufton [2019] VSC 621 (13 September 

2019) • Hague v The Queen [2019] VSCA 218 (3 October 2019)
Attempted Murder DPP v Guest [2020] VSC 352 (22 June 2020)
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Sexual 
Offences

Armed Robbery DPP v Dau [2019] VCC 1306 (19 August 2019) • DPP v 
Castaldi [2019] VCC 1659 (10 October 2019) • DPP v Aldcroft [2019] VCC 

1697 (18 October 2019) • DPP v Weinberg [2019] VCC 1789 (1 November 
2019) • DPP v Bosworth & Ors [2019] VCC 2076 (9 December 2019) • DPP v 
Hazell [2020] VCC 84 (17 February 2020)
Attempted Armed Robbery DPP v Samas [2019] VCC 1746 (25 

October 2019)
Robbery Leishman v The Queen [2019] VSCA 270 (21 November 2019)

Drug 
Offences

Robbery

Incest DPP v Carr (A Pseudonym) [2019] VCC 1750 (24 October 2019) • Nelson (A Pseudonym) v The Queen 
[2020] VSCA 36 (2 March 2020)
Indecent Act with a Child under 16 and Related Offences DPP v Pittard (A Pseudonym) [2019] VCC 
1536 (9 September 2019) • DPP v Matthews [2019] VCC 1407 (29 August 2019) • Carter v The Queen [2020] 
VSCA 13 (11 February 2020)

Indecent Assault Traeger (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2019] VSCA 231 (17 October 
2019) • DPP v King [2019] VCC 1905 (15 November 2019) • DPP v Harper 

(A Pseudonym) [2020] VCC 336 (25 March 2020) • DPP v Nguyen [2020] VCC 
348 (26 March 2020)

Maintaining a Sexual Relationship with a Child under 16 The Queen 
v Kunsevitsky [2020] VSC 41 (29 January 2020)
Persistent Sexual Abuse of a Child under 16 The Queen v Kunsevitsky 
[2020] VSC 41 (29 January 2020)
Rape Ivanov (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2019] VSCA 219 (8 October 

2019) • DPP v Warnakulasuriye [2019] VCC 2070 (10 December 2019) • DPP 
v Nguyen [2020] VCC 348 (26 March 2020) • DPP v Johnson (A Pseudonym) 

[2020] VCC 397 (3 April 2020) • DPP v Worthington (A Pseudonym) [2020] VCC 
670 (22 May 2020) • DPP v Jenkins [2020] VCC 749 (4 June 2020)

Sexual Assault DPP v Pittard (A Pseudonym) [2019] VCC 1536 (9 September 2019) • DPP v 
Carr (A Pseudonym) [2019] VCC 1750 (24 October 2019)
Sexual Penetration of a Child Aged 12 to 16 DPP v Matthews [2019] VCC 1407 (29 August 2019) • 
DPP v Livori [2019] VCC 1539 (20 September 2019) • Nelson (A Pseudonym) v The Queen [2020] VSCA 36 (2 
March 2020)

Cultivating a Commercial Quantity of Narcotic Plants DPP v Nguyen [2019] 
VCC 1525 (18 September 2019) • Thomas v The Queen [2019] VSCA 223 

(10 October 2019)
Cultivating a Non-Commercial Quantity of Narcotic Plants DPP v 

Ngo [2019] VCC 1847 (12 November 2019)
Trafficking in a Commercial Quantity of Drugs DPP v Cui [2019] VCC 
1083 (15 July 2019) • Chong v the Queen [2019] VSCA 216 (26 September 
2019) • DPP v Blanchett [2019] VCC 2198 (18 December 2019) • DPP v 
Nguyen [2020] VCC 584 (8 May 2020)

Trafficking in a Non-Commercial Quantity of Drugs DPP v Cui [2019] 
VCC 1083 (15 July 2019) • DPP v Zarghami [2019] VCC 1520 (18 September 2019) 

• Chong v the Queen [2019] VSCA 216 (26 September 2019) • DPP v Nguyen [2020] 
VCC 288 (19 March 2020) • DPP v De Ocampo [2020] VCC 366 (2 April 2020)
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	 Our Work in Action

Other 
Offences

Research 
Reports

Arson DPP v Stokes & Anor [2019] VCC 1518 (16 September 2019) • 
Maddocks v The Queen [2020] VSCA 47 (13 March 2020)
Obtaining a Financial Advantage by Deception DPP v Featherby 
[2019] VCC 1227 (9 August 2019)
Obtaining Property by Deception DPP v Baird [2020] VCC 692 (25 
May 2020)

Theft DPP v Amerasekera [2019] VCC 1833 (7 November 2019)

Property 
Offences

Affray R v Abdi & Anor [2020] VSC 225 (30 April 2020) • The Queen v 
Novakovic [2019] VSC 556 (23 August 2019)

Aggravated Burglary Lim v The Queen [2019] VSCA 182 (16 August 
2019) • The Queen v Novakovic [2019] VSC 556 (23 August 2019) • DPP v 
Gediktas [2019] VCC 1510 (17 September 2019) • Dughetti v The Queen 
[2019] VSCA 217 (2 October 2019) • DPP v Craig [2019] VCC 1957 (25 
November 2019) • DPP v Warnakulasuriye [2019] VCC 2070 (10 December 

2019) • DPP v Schmidt (A Pseudonym) [2020] VCC 479 (21 April 2020) • DPP 
v Seeman [2019] VCC 2231 (20 December 2019) • DPP v Hazell [2020] VCC 

84 (17 February 2020)

Brown v The Queen [2019] VSCA 286 (10 December 2019) • DPP v Seeman 
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In addition to the citations, the Council’s work received widespread media attention during 

2019–20, featuring in print and online news and on radio.
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One of the Council’s statutory functions is to provide statistical information 
on sentencing, including information on current sentencing practices.

Sentencing Advisory Council Statistics (SACStat)
SACStat is an online tool for accessing data on sentencing outcomes for the Victorian 

Magistrates’ Court of Victoria and the County and Supreme Courts of Victoria (the 

higher courts). SACStat presents data in graphs and tables for charges and cases for 

approximately 700 offences. Users can find offences with a legislation index or with an 

offence search and can view sentencing outcomes by age group and gender. 

The Council updates SACStat on a regular basis, ensuring that it continues to provide 

contemporary and relevant sentencing data. Statistics for the Magistrates’ Court were 

updated in 2019 to cover over 500 offences sentenced from July 2016 to June 2019. SACStat 

statistics for the higher courts currently include data on over 200 offences sentenced from 

July 2013 to June 2018.  The Council also added automated summaries for all Magistrates’ 

Court offences and around 60 higher courts offences on SACStat. These summaries 

provide simple narratives about sentencing outcomes for offences and can be saved, 

exported and printed.

Sentencing Snapshots
In 2019–20, the Council released six new Sentencing Snapshots. The offences covered this 

financial year are:

•	 armed robbery (no. 236);

•	 aggravated burglary (no. 237);

•	 causing serious injury intentionally (no. 238);

•	 causing serious injury recklessly (no. 239);

•	 causing injury intentionally (no. 240); and

•	 causing serious injury recklessly (no. 241).

The Council has regularly released Sentencing Snapshots since the series was launched 

in 2005. Sentencing Snapshots include the sentence types and imprisonment lengths 

imposed over a five-year period for an offence of interest. The six new Snapshots cover 

sentencing outcomes in the five-year period from July 2014 to June 2019. 

As at June 2020, the Council has published 241 Sentencing Snapshots. An additional six 

Snapshots are planned for release early in 2020–21.

Accurate and Reliable 
Sentencing Data and Analysis
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Sentencing Trends
In August 2019, the Council updated sentencing trends data and graphs on its website to 

be current to 30 June 2018.  This section of the website presents general trends in:

•	 the number of cases sentenced and sentencing outcomes in the higher courts, the 

Magistrates’ Court and the Children’s Court;

•	 imprisonment, most serious offences, reoffending and community orders; and

•	 youth detention.

Serious Offending while on a Community Correction 
Order
In June 2020, the Council released Serious Offending by People Serving a Community Correction 

Order: 2018–19, the third in a series of reports examining serious offences committed by 

people while serving a community correction order (CCO).

The report fulfils an obligation under the Corrections Act 1986 (Vic):

For each financial year commencing on or after 1 July 2016, the Sentencing Advisory Council 
must report for that year the number of persons convicted during that year of a serious offence 
committed while subject to a community correction order.

The reference period of the third report is 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019.  The analysis 

included any person sentenced during the reference period for committing a 

serious offence where the commission of the offence occurred while the person was 

serving a CCO.

Populations used to identify the number of people sentenced in 2018–19 for a serious offence 
committed while serving a CCO
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A serious offence is defined by the Corrections Act 1986 (Vic) to include:

•	 a serious violent offence such as murder and manslaughter; and

•	 a sexual offence such as rape, sexual assault and sexual penetration of a child under 16. 

There were 651 people sentenced in 2018–19 for committing a serious offence while on a 

CCO. This represents a relatively minor increase of 3% from the 632 people sentenced in 

2017–18. In comparison, the percentage change between 2016–17 (551 people) and 2017–

18 was much larger at 14.7%.

Overall, the number of charges of serious offending for people sentenced in 2018–19 was 

914, which is only slightly above the 912 charges for people sentenced in 2017–18.

The three most common serious offences sentenced in 2018–19 and committed while 

serving a CCO were: 

•	 make threat to kill (319 charges);

•	 make threat to inflict serious injury (187 charges); and 

•	 aggravated burglary (138 charges). 

These are identical to the three most common serious offences sentenced in the previous 

two financial years. The most common serious sexual offences in 2018–19 were sexual 

assault (26 charges) and knowingly possessing child abuse material (15 charges). These 

offences were also among the 10 most common serious offences in 2016–17 and 2017–18.

The courts also sentenced a small number of very serious offences committed by people 

while serving a CCO, including two charges of murder, two charges of manslaughter and 

eight charges of rape. 

There was a rise in the proportion of people receiving a CCO combined with imprisonment 

among those sentenced for a serious offence while serving a CCO. The percentage rose 

from 17.3% in 2016–17 to nearly 30% in 2018–19.
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The provision of independent, high-quality sentencing research and policy 
advice relates to the Council’s statutory functions of stating in writing 
to the Court of Appeal the Council’s view in relation to the giving, or the 
review, of a guideline judgment, conducting research and disseminating 
information on sentencing matters, and advising the Attorney-General on 
sentencing matters.

Deportation and Sentencing: An Emerging Area of 
Jurisprudence
In November 2019, the Council published Deportation and Sentencing: An Emerging Area of 

Jurisprudence. The report examines how Victorian courts are currently taking an offender’s 

likely deportation into account during sentencing. The number of people being deported 

each year as a consequence of criminal offending has increased from about 100 to about 

1,000 per year as a result of legislative changes in 2014.

In light of the increasing prevalence of such deportations, the Council reviewed how 

Victorian courts are grappling with whether, and to what extent, an offender’s likely 

deportation should be taken into account during sentencing. It found four ways that an 

offender’s likely deportation can affect sentencing, most often as an extra-curial form of 

punishment that can cause additional anxiety during a prison sentence.

The Council further found that a number of issues would benefit from clarification, 

including the test courts should apply in determining the likelihood that an offender will 

actually be deported when released from prison. That specific issue arises because, while 

visa cancellation is automatic, processes are in place for offenders to apply to have their 

visa reinstated, and nearly one-third of applications are successful.

Another key finding in the report was the increasing number of cases in which courts noted 

that they would have benefitted from more information or evidence about an offender’s 

visa. This included whether the offender was on a visa that was likely to be cancelled as 

well as whether the offender planned to seek reinstatement of their visa if it was cancelled.

Rethinking Sentencing for Young Adult Offenders
In December 2019, the Council published Rethinking Sentencing for Young Adult Offenders. Young 

adult offenders (aged 18 to 25 inclusive) are over-represented in Victoria’s criminal justice 

system. Offenders in this age group have relatively low compliance and completion rates on 

community sentencing orders, and they also reoffend at higher rates than older offenders. 

Independent, High-Quality 
Sentencing Research and Policy Advice
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The report looks at how young adult offenders differ from older offenders, their offending 

and sentencing patterns, and what options are currently available when sentencing them. 

It also explores alternative approaches that might be more developmentally appropriate to 

sentencing this age group and may help them to desist from future offending.

The report discusses scientific research demonstrating that young adults can have an 

impaired understanding of consequences, be impulsive, have a disproportionate response 

to emotional arousal and be prone to peer pressure, all of which can contribute to 

offending. However, if managed well, many grow out of this behaviour.

Developmental factors and milestones in transition to adulthood (adapted from Columbia 
Justice Lab)

In the Magistrates’ Court, offenders aged 18 to 25 are most commonly sentenced for 

regulatory offending, often related to driving, as well as for crimes against the person, 

particularly in the higher courts.

For young adult offenders aged 18 to 20, Victoria currently has limited specialist sentencing 

options available (apart from the ability to sentence them to a specialised custodial facility 

for young offenders, rather than prison, under Victoria’s dual track sentencing system). For 

young adult offenders aged 21 to 25, sentencing options are limited to those available for 

older offenders.

The report canvasses potential new options for dealing with young adult offenders, including:

•	 adapting community-based sentencing options, for example, by tailoring community 

correction orders to allow for a specialised approach to young adult offenders;

•	 expanding Victoria’s dual track sentencing system and the availability of youth justice 

centre orders to offenders aged 21 to 25; and

•	 introducing specialist courts or court lists to facilitate the provision of services, and to 

assist young adult offenders to understand and engage with court processes, orders 

and programs.
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Time Served Prison Sentences in Victoria
In February 2020, the Council published Time Served Prison Sentences in Victoria. The report 

examines the increasing prevalence of ‘time served’ prison sentences, where the duration 

of a prison sentence is the same as the amount of time an offender has already spent on 

remand, such that offenders are immediately released (with or without a CCO taking effect).

The report found that the number of time served prison sentences had increased by over 

640% between 2011–12 and 2017–18. Time served prison sentences now account for 20% 

of all prison sentences imposed in Victoria, compared with 5% six years earlier. Other key 

findings include:

•	 just over half of all time served prison sentences were combined with a CCO;

•	 almost all time served prison sentences (96%) were less than six months in duration; 

and

•	 almost all time served prison sentences (95%) were imposed in the Magistrates’ Court.

Percentage of time served prison sentences

20%
20% of all prison sentences imposed in 
Victoria in 2017–18 were time served prison 
sentences.

That’s one in five prison sentences.

Six years earlier, time served prison 
sentences were just 5% of all prison sentences.

The findings of this report suggest that a key driver of increased numbers of time served 

prison sentences has been the significant increase in the number of people held on 

remand awaiting trial in Victoria. Over 92% of the additional 2,000 people in prison 

between 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2019 were unsentenced prisoners. 

The report flags a number of important criminal justice policy implications arising from this 

increase in time served prison sentences, including:

•	 the limited opportunities for someone receiving a time served prison sentence to make 

arrangements for their transition back into the community;

•	 the limited ability of the justice system to provide meaningful rehabilitation programs 

to people being held on remand because they are innocent until proven guilty;

•	 the extent to which a time served prison sentence is capable of achieving various 

purposes of sentencing, such as rehabilitation and protection of the community; and

•	 whether the increasing likelihood of receiving a time served prison sentence might 

inappropriately encourage some people on remand to plead guilty in the hope of being 

released earlier than if they proceeded to trial. 
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‘Crossover Kids’: Vulnerable Children in the Youth 
Justice System 
The ‘crossover kids’ project studied 5,063 children who were sentenced or diverted from 1 

January 2016 to 31 December 2017. The children were matched against 22 years of child 

protection data to identify the proportion of children known to child protection and their 

child protection history. This Council-initiated project involved data linkage between the 

Council, the Department of Health and Human Services and the Children’s Court of Victoria. 

The first report from the project was published in June 2019.

Prevalence and level of child protection involvement among children in the study group from 
18 June 1996 to 3 September 2018

Study group
5,063 children (100%)

Children sentenced or diverted in the
Victorian Children's Court in 2016 or 2017

38% were the subject of at least one
child protection report: 1,938 children

30% were the subject of at least one
investigated report: 1,538 children

18% were the subject of at least one
child protection order: 892 children

25% were the subject of at least one
substantiated report: 1,286 children

15% experienced out-of-home care:
767 children

10% experienced residential care:
525 children

Children known to 
child protection

Child protection
order group

Substantiated
report

Investigated
report

Care
group

Report 2: Children at the Intersection of Child Protection and Youth 
Justice across Victoria
In April 2020, the Council published the second report in the crossover kids series. Like 

Report 1 in the series, Report 2 has a statistical focus.

Report 2 found that of the 1,938 crossover kids (sentenced and diverted children known to 

child protection) most (94%) were known to child protection before their first offence. 

Children first sentenced aged 10–13 were more likely than older children to be known to child 

protection and to have been sentenced in a regional court. Crossover children first sentenced 

aged 10–13 were generally more vulnerable than older children: they were more likely to 

have entered the child protection system earlier, be Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

children, be the subject of a child protection report alleging physical harm, experience out-of-

home care and have experienced more out-of-home care placements and carers.  
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Children who experienced residential care were more likely than other children to be 

sentenced or diverted for certain offences including breach intervention order, offences 

against the person, property damage, drug offences, weapons offences and assault/resist/

hinder police or emergency workers.

First sentenced or diverted 
offence before first child 
protection report

First sentenced or diverted 
offence on same day as first 
child protection report

First sentenced or diverted offence 
after first child protection report

94%

<1%6%

Report 2 also found that children sentenced and diverted in regional Victoria were more 

likely than those in the Melbourne metropolitan area to be known to child protection and 

to be younger (aged 10–13) at first sentence. Regional crossover children were more likely 

to be Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children; their over-representation is not fully 

explained by higher Aboriginal populations in some parts of regional Victoria.

Proportion of children in the study group who were aged 10–13 at first sentence or diversion, 
by court region and Children’s Court location
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8%

5% 4%
2%

5% 4% 3% 2%

11%
8%

12%

29%

12% 11%

19%

24%

13%

17% 16% 16%

M
el

bo
ur

ne
 (7

81
)

Fr
an

ks
to

n 
(3

23
)

D
an

de
no

ng
 (4

94
)

H
ei

de
lb

er
g 

(2
87

)

W
er

ri
be

e 
(1

03
)

Ri
ng

w
oo

d 
(3

91
)

Br
oa

dm
ea

do
w

s 
(2

93
)

Su
ns

hi
ne

 (2
90

)

M
oo

ra
bb

in
 (1

67
)

G
ee

lo
ng

 (2
71

)

W
ar

rn
am

bo
ol

 (7
3)

Ba
lla

ra
t (

19
4)

H
or

sh
am

 (9
4)

Be
nd

ig
o 

(1
30

)

M
ild

ur
a 

(1
08

)

La
tr

ob
e 

Va
lle

y 
(2

66
)

Ba
ir

ns
da

le
 (5

5)

Sa
le

 (4
6)

Sh
ep

pa
rt

on
 (1

54
)

W
od

on
ga

 (1
16

)

W
an

ga
ra

tt
a 

(5
0)

Percentage of children aged 10–13
at first sentence or diversion

Number of children by location

5% of children in the
Melbourne metropolitan area were
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Children reported to child protection (1,938 children), 
by the proportion who committed their first 

sentenced or diverted offence before, at 
the same time as, or after their first child 

protection report
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Report 3: Sentencing Children Who Have Experienced Trauma
In June 2020, the Council published its third and final report in the crossover kids series. 

Report 3 drew on the findings of the first two reports, consultation on those findings and 

scientific evidence on the effects of childhood trauma, to explore policy issues relating 

to sentencing children who have experienced trauma, particularly those who have had 

contact with the child protection system. 

Report 3 does not make formal recommendations but it does raise several possibilities 

for reform, subject to further investigation and consultation. The suggested measures are 

intended to strengthen the current approach to sentencing children who have experienced 

trauma, extend the many strengths of the specialised Children’s Court in Melbourne 

to regional areas and enhance community safety through more timely and effective 

rehabilitation. Measures include: 

•	 introducing legislated sentencing principles that explicitly identify rehabilitation as the 

paramount purpose of sentencing children and recognise the relevance to sentencing 

children of factors such as childhood trauma, child protection involvement, out-of-

home care, age and the unique characteristics of Aboriginal trauma;

•	 resourcing the expansion of the fully specialised Children’s Court to regional areas, with 

specialised Children’s Court locations operating as hubs for services; 

•	 strengthening the capacity of sentencing courts to be fully appraised of a child’s 

protection history and experience of trauma, including introducing a crossover list in 

the Children’s Court, strengthening information-sharing between the Family Division 

and the Criminal Division of the Children’s Court, providing dedicated child protection 

workers in the Criminal Division to facilitate access to reports about a child’s protection 

history and empowering the Criminal Division to compel case workers to attend court 

and/or support a child in cases in which the Secretary to the Department of Health and 

Human Services has parental responsibility for the child; 

•	 introducing pre-trial youth justice family group conferencing with the authority to 

recommend against commencing or continuing a child’s prosecution while putting in 

place supports to address the causes of a child’s offending; and 

•	 ensuring that system reforms to address the substantial over-representation of 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in the youth justice system are designed, 

developed and led by Aboriginal people in keeping with the principle of self-

determination and continuing to improve access to culturally appropriate specialist 

services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children and their families throughout 

Victoria, particularly in regional areas.

Regional crossover children were more likely to be Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander children; their over-representation is not fully explained by 
higher Aboriginal populations in some parts of regional Victoria.
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Informing Members of the Community 
About Sentencing

The Council’s functions under the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) involve 
disseminating information on sentencing matters to members of the 
judiciary and other interested persons.

Guide to Sentencing Schemes in Victoria
In January 2020, the Council updated its Guide to Sentencing Schemes in Victoria. First 

published in December 2018, the guide aims to assist criminal justice stakeholders and the 

broader community in understanding when one or more of the many sentencing schemes 

under the Sentencing Act 1991 (Vic) apply to an offence. 

The guide covers Category 1 and 2 offences, standard sentence offences, statutory minimum 

sentences and Category A and B serious youth offences. It includes a quick reference table 

listing relevant offences, statutory references, maximum penalties and any applicable 

sentencing schemes. The guide now incorporates amendments from 2019 that classified two 

new offences relating to police and protective services officers as Category 2 offences.

Summaries of Sentencing Law
The Council regularly publishes updated summaries of Victorian sentencing law for the 

broader community. These resources are formatted to view online or to be printed and 

distributed. They include: 

•	 A Quick Guide to Sentencing;

•	 You be the Judge teachers’ kits; and 

•	 plain-language brochures on sentencing such as How Courts Sentence Adult Offenders 

and Sentencing in the Children’s Court.

SACStat User Guide and Training
This financial year, the Council released a two-page guide on how to use SACStat, its online 

sentencing statistics database. The Council also ran three face-to-face SACStat training 

sessions with librarians, lawyers and law students. 

Virtual You be the Judge
Since its launch in 2010, the Council’s online interactive application Virtual You be the Judge 

has helped users learn about sentencing law by inviting them to ‘sentence’ a real case. 

Popular with teachers and students, Virtual You be the Judge had 13,257 visits in 2019–20. 
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Social Media Virtual You 
be the Judge

Our Digital 
Presence 

2019-20

SACStat Website

Our Twitter audience grew by 9.3%, and our 
Tweets had nearly 900,000 impressions.

Statistics from SACStat are mentioned in published 
sentencing decisions from the higher courts of Victoria.

Our website had over 500,000 pageviews

Our Virtual You be the Judge application had 
over 13,000 visits.

Sentencing law and trends have changed considerably since Virtual You be the Judge 

first went live in 2010. The Council is currently seeking funding to redevelop this award-

nominated resource to include recent cases, an updated overview of sentencing law and a 

more accurate reflection of current sentencing practices.

You be the Judge
Our face-to-face educational sessions foster discussion and an exploration of Victorian 

sentencing law and have been a feature of our education work since the Council was 

first established in 2004. This financial year, we ran 19 sessions for an audience of 

approximately 420 people. Some of the Council’s operations, particularly those relating 

to community engagement, were limited due to COVID-19 restrictions. After a trial of two 

online events as part of Law Week 2020, we now provide online You be the Judge education 

sessions on a regular basis using video conferencing software.

Reaching out to the general public, including to audiences in regional and rural Victoria, is 

part of the Council’s stakeholder engagement strategy. In partnership with the Magistrates’ 

Court, the Council took You be the Judge on the road in October 2019 for a regional tour 

of Hume, with sessions held in Wodonga, Wangaratta and Shepparton. Approximately 80 

people attended the sessions. Audience members reported a significant improvement in 

their knowledge of sentencing after participating in the sessions. 
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Legal Education
This financial year, the Council delivered presentations on sentencing and our research to 

groups including:

•	 a delegation of academics from the Hebei Vocational College of Politics and Law in China;

•	 criminology students in the honours program at Monash University;

•	 public sector employees as part of the Department of Justice and Community Safety 

Symposium 2019;

•	 attendees at the Jesuit Social Services 2019 National Justice Symposium; and

•	 legal practitioners and staff as part of Victoria Legal Aid’s in-house professional training 

program ‘Criminal Connections’.

Media Relations
Print, broadcast and online media are vital partners for the Council to share our research and 

education on sentencing with the Victorian community. The Council responds to media requests 

for information on sentencing, circulates its reports among journalists and promotes accurate 

media coverage of sentencing issues by pitching stories, interviews and editorials to media outlets.  

The Council’s Chair and Deputy Chair have been interviewed numerous times on radio to 

explain the key findings of our research to a broad audience. Our research reports have 

received very good coverage in mainstream print and online media. 

Social Media
Twitter and LinkedIn are cost-effective ways to publicise our work, invite people to events, 

and inform and engage with key audiences such as journalists, legal practitioners and 

people affected by crime.

The number of people and organisations following @SACvic on Twitter grew by 9.3% this 

financial year, from 6,180 to 6,755. The Council’s tweets (including retweets) generated 

almost 900,000 impressions this financial year, steady on the previous year.

The number of people and organisations following the Council on LinkedIn in 2019–20 

grew by 64%, from 117 to 192, with 178 views of Council posts.

www.sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au
People viewed close to half a million pages on our website in 2019–20.

Around 90% of our audience is from Australia: 63% is from Victoria and 60% is from 

Melbourne.  Over 78% of people find us through searching in Google for things like 

‘Sentencing Advisory Council’, ‘mandatory sentencing’, ‘recidivism’ or a specific offence. 

Our most popular content is ‘About Sentencing’ comprising plain-language information 

on how sentencing works in Victoria. It captured 32% of our audience share in 2019–20. 
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Three of our top-five pages are from ‘About Sentencing’: Maximum Penalties, Community 

Correction Order and Sentencing Principles, Purposes, Factors.

Around 30% of our audience viewed our sentencing statistics, including SACStat, 

Sentencing Snapshots and general sentencing trends. Our statistics on released prisoners 

who returned to prison was our third most popular page this financial year.

We have published over 100 reports and papers on sentencing in Victoria, all of which 

are freely available on our website. Our top two most downloaded publications were 

educational resources for the general community: A Quick Guide to Sentencing and How 

Courts Sentence Adult Offenders. The Quick Guide has been downloaded over 11,500 times 

since its release in 2015. Rethinking Sentencing for Young Adult Offenders was our most 

downloaded report published in 2019–20. Does Imprisonment Deter? A Review of the Evidence 

from 2011 continues to be one of our most popular reports.

Website performance 2019–20

Top pages
Title Pageviews

22,988Home

Maximum Penalties 22,672

Sentencing Principles, Purposes, Factors 13,149

Community Correction Order 8,500

Released Prisoners Returning to Prison 15,975

Top publications
Title Downloads

2,632

1,645

988

1,047

Quick Guide to Sentencing

How Courts Sentence Adult Offenders

Rethinking Sentencing for Young Adult Offenders

Theft: Sentencing Outcomes in the Magistrates’ Court

Does Imprisonment Deter? A Review of the Evidence 1,009

Sessions

247,391
Pages viewed

524,955
Pages per session

2.12
Average minutes on the website

2:13 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

500,000 pageviews
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Giving members of the community the opportunity to provide input into 
sentencing policy relates to the Council’s statutory functions of consulting 
and gauging public opinion on sentencing matters.

Consultation
The Council’s consultation functions focus predominantly on capturing informed opinions 

specific to our research and the projects and references that we undertake. Achievements 

in 2019–20 include holding roundtables and consulting directly with a wide group of 

stakeholders during the preparation of our reports. A list of the agencies, organisations 

and academics consulted in 2019–20 is set out below.

Consulting Widely 
and Gauging Public Opinion

Victorian Court of Appeal • County Court of Victoria  • 
Magistrates’ Court of Victoria  • Children’s Court of Victoria  • 

Neighbourhood Justice Centre Judiciary

Academia

Dr Susan Baidawi, Department of Social Work, Monash University 
• Associate Professor Asher Flynn, School of Social Sciences 

(Criminology), Monash University • Professor Marilyn McMahon, School 
of Law, Deakin University • Dr Renee O’Donnell, School of Public Health and 
Preventative Medicine, Monash University • Dr Sanne Oostermeijer, School of 
Population and Global Health (Centre for Mental Health), University of Melbourne 

• Professor Rosemary Sheehan, Department of Social Work, Monash University • Dr 
Jesse Young, School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne

Australia’s National Research Organisation on Women’s Safety 
(ANROWS) • Centre for Excellence in Child and Family Welfare  • Centre 
for Multicultural Youth  • Jesuit Social Services  • Justice-involved Young 
People Network  • Road Trauma Support Services • Whitelion  • Youth 
Junction Inc. • Youth Law  • Youth Support and Advocacy Service 

Legal 
Profession

Human Rights Law Centre  • Law Institute of Victoria  • 
Paul Smallwood, Barrister • Victoria Legal Aid  • 

Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service 

Non- 
Government 

Organisations

Adult Parole Board • Commission for Children and Young People  • Department of Health 
and Human Services  • Department of Justice and Community Safety – Corrections 

Victoria (Parkville Youth Justice Centre • Community Operations and Offender Services 
Division)  • Community Crime Prevention Unit • Community Justice, Justice Policy and 
Legislation • Youth Justice  – eSafety Commissioner • Victims of Crime Commissioner  
• Victoria Police, including the Specialist Children’s Court Prosecutions Unit 

Government
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Organisational Governance 
and Statutory Compliance

As a public entity, the Council requires accountable and effective 
governance under the Financial Management Act 1994, the Public 
Administration Act 2014, the Audit Act 1994, and other applicable laws, 
regulations and directions from the Minister of Finance.

The Council has undertaken to complete compliance certification under the Financial 

Management Certification Framework in conjunction with the Department of Justice and 

Community Safety.

Attestation
I, Arie Freiberg, on behalf of the responsible body, certify that the Sentencing Advisory 

Council has complied with the applicable Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance 

under the Financial Management Act 1994 and instructions. 

Professor Arie Freiberg AM

Chair

Sentencing Advisory Council 

Additional Information
The Council’s published reports and other public documents are available online at www.

sentencingcouncil.vic.gov.au. Any other relevant information in relation to the financial 

year is retained by the Accountable Officer and is available on request subject to freedom 

of information requirements and our privacy policy.

Audit and Finance Committee
During the first half of 2019–20, the Council and the Judicial College of Victoria shared 

an Audit and Finance Committee.  In January 2020, the Council established a separate 

Committee to oversee its financial operations.  During 2019–20, the Committee comprised 

the following members.
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Chair
Robert Camm 

Independent Members
Cameron Hume

Robyn Dyt

The Committee receives secretarial assistance from the Council’s Operations Manager, 

Sarah Lappin.

The Council’s Chief Finance and Accounting Officer, Michael Almond, attends Committee 

meetings by standing invitation, providing finance advice and support as required. 

The Chief Executive Officer of the Council and a representative of the Victorian Auditor-

General’s Office also attend meetings by standing invitation. 

The Audit and Finance Committee oversees: 

•	 financial performance and reporting processes, including the annual financial 

statements; 

•	 the scope of work, performance and independence of the external auditor; 

•	 effective communication with external auditors;

•	 recommendations made by external auditors and the implementation of actions to 

resolve issues raised;

•	 the operation and implementation of the risk-management framework; 

•	 matters of accountability and internal control affecting the operations of the Council; and

•	 processes for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations.  

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Committee has: 

•	 reviewed the financial statements for the annual report and recommended them to the 

responsible body (or delegates) for approval; 

•	 reviewed the scope and results of the external auditor’s examination of the financial 

report and the matters brought to its attention;

•	 regularly reviewed the Chief Finance and Accounting Officer’s financial reports on the 

Council’s finances;

•	 completed a self-assessment and submitted a summary of the results to the 

responsible body; 

•	 reviewed the risk register and noted that the risks were being appropriately addressed 

by management; 

•	 reviewed its annual programme; 

•	 endorsed the use of the Department of Justice and Community Safety’s Financial Code 

of Practice; 

•	 reviewed the Council’s business and strategic plans for 2019–20; and 

•	 met separately with representatives of the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office and 

reviewed the VAGO audit strategy for the 2019–20 annual financial audit.
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Table 1: Financial results and position, 2015–16 to 2019–20

Notes 2019–20 
$

2018–19 
$

2017–18 
$

2016–17 
$

2015–16 
$

Income

Grants from Department 
of Justice and Community 
Safety

(a)  1,924,500 1,777,000 2,018,000  1,854,400  1,792,400 

Total Income  1,924,500 1,777,000 2,018,000  1,854,400  1,792,400 

Expenses (b)  1,857,135 1,754,465 2,011,934  1,841,100  1,772,354 

Other economic flows (c) –9,390 –18,820 5,719 (10,812) (2,756)

Net result for the 
period

 57,976 3,715 11,785  2,487  17,289 

Net cash flow from 
operating activities

(d)  109,176 – – – –

Total assets (e)  1,224,734 770,843 809,706  768,095  724,811 

Total liabilities (f)  827,864 431,949 474,526  444,702  403,903 

Notes – Movements between 2018–19 and 2019–20
(a)	 Income received increased by $147,500 (8.3%) mainly as a result of the $118,974 of depreciation 

equivalent funding received, following the introduction of the new AASB 16 Lease Accounting 
Standard. 

(b)	 Expenses increased by $102,670 (5.9%) mainly reflecting increased employee costs associated 
with activity levels. 

(c)	 Other economic flows amounted to a loss of $9,390. This item reflects the loss incurred arising 
from the revaluation to the present value of the long service leave liabilities due to lower bond 
rates that impact on the revaluation model.

(d)	 Net cash flows from operating activities increased by $109,176 (100%). This reflects the yearly 
repayment of the new lease liability for the Council’s office lease, which was required to be 
recognised under the new AASB 16 Lease Accounting Standard. 

(e)	 Total assets increased by $453,892 (58.9%). This increase reflects the first-time recognition of a 
right-of-use building asset of $356,381 reflecting the Council’s office lease arrangements under 
the new AASB 16 Lease Accounting Standard. There was also an increased receivable from the 
Department of Justice and Community Safety associated with the funding arrangements relating 
to an increase in employment provisions of $32,904.

(f)	 Total liabilities increased by $395,916 (91.7%). This is mainly due to the liability associated with 
the first-time recognition of a right-of-use liability of $365,999 reflecting the Council’s office lease 
arrangements under the new AASB 16 Lease Accounting Standard and an increase in employment 
provisions of $32,904.
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Compliance with the Building Act 1993
The Council does not own nor control any government buildings insofar as the Council sublets 

building infrastructure and property services provided by the Victorian Law Reform Commission.

Environmental Management and Impacts
Operating within the context of the Department of Justice and Community Safety, the 

Council has adopted the Department’s environmental management policy, implementing 

efficient office recycling, waste management and energy efficiency practices. 

Some specific steps the Council has taken include:

•	 shifting from hardcopy to electronic publishing for all Council reports and papers;

•	 having a standing item on the environment at staff meetings;

•	 encouraging staff to adopt PIN printing;

•	 encouraging staff to adopt systems to reduce paper consumption; and

•	 posting signage to remind staff to turn off lights and monitors.

In 2019–20, the Council’s consumption of copy paper totalled 52 reams at an average per 

staff member of 5.20 reams.  Paper usage has decreased by two reams per staff member, 

from an average of 7.20 reams per staff member in 2018–19. 

Financial Management
The Council abides by a financial code of practice that encompasses procurement, the use 

of assets and resources, potential conflicts of interest, secondary employment, financial 

gifts and gratuities. Employees are subject to the Department of Justice and Community 

Safety’s code of conduct, consistent with the Victorian public service code of conduct and 

the objectives of the Public Administration Act 2004.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 gives the public the right to access documents held 

by the Council. For the year ending 30 June 2020, the Council received no requests for 

information under this Act. 

Government Advertising Expenditure
The Council has not expended more than $150,000 on advertising.

Human Resource Management
During 2019–20, the Council continued to promote personal and professional development 

of its staff to achieve sustained improvements and to create satisfying career paths.  
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The Council actively promotes safe work practices, career development, work–life balance 

and a friendly and non-discriminatory working environment. 

Staff are offered the opportunity to undertake higher duties when the opportunities arise.  

Implementation of the Victorian Industry 
Participation Policy
The Local Jobs Act 2003 requires public bodies and departments to report on the application 

of the Victorian industry participation policy in all tenders over $3 million in metropolitan 

Melbourne and $1 million in regional Victoria. While the Council uses local suppliers for goods 

and services, the policy does not apply to the Council due to the threshold of expenditure.

Industrial Relations
The Council enjoys a cooperative relationship with employee representative organisations. 

For the year ending 30 June 2020, no time was lost through industrial disputes or accidents.

Merit and Equity
The Department of Justice and Community Safety’s merit and equity principles are 

applied in the appointment and management of staff. The Council’s guiding principles are 

consistent with the public sector values and employment principles articulated in the Public 

Administration Act 2004.

Occupational Health and Safety
The Council has assigned an occupational health and safety (OHS) officer, who undertakes 

quarterly inspections of the Council’s office.  OHS has also been factored into the Council’s 

overall risk-management framework.  

The Council has two designated first-aid officers. The management team has also undertaken 

mental health training offered by the Department of Justice and Community Safety.  

All staff have access to standing desks and ergonomic equipment in the Council’s office. 

Ergonomic assessments for new staff members were put on hold and all Council staff 

began working from home in late March 2020 due to COVID-19 restrictions.  In preparation 

for working from home, staff were required to undertake an assessment of their work-

from-home stations and attest that their workstations complied with the Department 

of Justice and Community Safety’s standards. Staff were permitted to take home office 

equipment to supplement their work-from-home stations.

Staff have undertaken a building evacuation exercise during the financial year.  

There were no claims of OHS related injury for the year ending 30 June 2020.
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Outsourced Consultancies 
There were no outsourced consultancies in excess of $10,000 for the year ending 

30 June 2020. 

Privacy
The Council manages personal information in accordance with the Privacy and Data 

Protection Act 2014 and our privacy policy. Regular reviews are carried out in relation to 

the recording of personal information to ensure that the Council is in compliance with 

regulations. There were no privacy-related complaints for the year ending 30 June 2020.

Protected Disclosures
The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 encourages and assists people in making disclosures 

of improper conduct by public bodies.  The Act provides protection to people who make 

disclosures in accordance with the Act and establishes a system for the matters disclosed 

to be investigated and rectifying action to be taken. 

The Council is committed to the aims and objectives of the Act.  It does not tolerate 

improper conduct by its employees, officers or directors, nor the taking of reprisals against 

those who come forward to disclose the conduct.

The Council recognises the value of transparency and accountability in its administrative 

and management practices and supports the making of disclosures that reveal corrupt 

conduct, conduct involving a substantial mismanagement of public resources, or conduct 

involving a substantial risk to public health and safety or to the environment.

The Council will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make such disclosures 

from any detrimental action in reprisal for making the disclosure.  It will also afford 

natural justice to the person who is the subject of the disclosure to the extent that is 

legally possible.

For the 12 months ending 30 June 2020, the Council did not receive any disclosures under 

the Act.

Making a Disclosure
A disclosure is an allegation of improper or corrupt conduct.  Disclosures of improper 

conduct or detrimental action by the Council or its employees may be made in writing or by 

telephone to:

Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC)

GPO Box 24234

Melbourne  VIC  3000

Tel: 1300 735 135
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Further Information
The IBAC website contains information about the disclosure framework at 

www.ibac.vic.gov.au.

Social and Cultural Diversity
The Council acknowledges the importance of cultural diversity and endeavours to maintain 

an inclusive, consultative and open approach to its work. Diversity is enhanced through the 

selection criteria of Council directors (appointed by the Attorney-General), staff recruitment 

and a broad community consultation strategy that includes a diverse range of individuals 

and community groups.

Staff Development and Training
During 2019–20, the Council offered a range of programs to equip staff with the knowledge 

and skills required to perform their jobs successfully. Staff members were encouraged to 

extend their professional skills via:

•	 attendance at external professional development courses; 

•	 enrolment in post-graduate degree courses (supported with study leave and some cost 

recovery); and

•	 attendance and presentation of papers at relevant conferences. 

Workforce Data
The Council implements the directions of the Victorian Public Sector Commission with 

respect to upholding public sector conduct, managing and valuing diversity, managing 

underperformance, reviewing personal grievances and selecting on merit.

The Council, through the Department of Justice and Community Safety, has a suite of 

detailed employment policies, including policies with respect to grievance resolution, 

recruitment, redeployment and managing diversity.  Policies with respect to managing 

underperformance and discipline were produced and have been implemented across the 

Council, via the Department.

Comparative Workforce Data
The following table discloses the head count and full-time staff equivalent (FTE) of all active 

public service employees of the Sentencing Advisory Council, employed in the last full pay 

period in June of the current reporting period (2020), and in the last full pay period in June 

of the previous reporting period (2019). 
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Table 2: Details of employment levels in June 2019 and 2020

All employees  
number 

(headcount)

FTE Ongoing 
full time 

(headcount)

Ongoing 
part time 

(headcount)

FTE Fixed term and 
casual number 

(headcount)

FTE

June 2020

Gender              

Male 6   4 2   3 3

Female 6   6 1   1 1

Self-described n n n n n n n

VPS 1–6 grades              

VPS 1              

VPS 2              

VPS 3              

VPS 4 4 4 4   4 2 2

VPS 5 4 3.4 3 1 3.4 1 1

VPS 6 3 2.4 2 1 2.4 1 1

Executive 1 1 1   1    

Total  
employees

12 10.8 10 2 10.8 4 4

All employees  
number 

(headcount)

FTE Ongoing 
full time 

(headcount)

Ongoing 
part time 

(headcount)

FTE Fixed term and 
casual number 

(headcount)

FTE

June 2019

Gender              

Male 6   4 2   3 3

Female 7   6 1   1 1

Self-described n n n n n n n

VPS 1–6 grades              

VPS 1              

VPS 2 1 1 1   1    

VPS 3              

VPS 4 3 3 3   3 2 2

VPS 5 4 3.4 3 1 3.4 1 1

VPS 6 4 3.4 2 2 3.4 1 1

Executive 1 1 1   1    

Total employees 13 11.8 10 3 11.8 4 4
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Financial Report 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2020

How This Report Is Structured
The Sentencing Advisory Council has presented its audited general purpose financial 

statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 in the following structure to provide 

users with the information about the Sentencing Advisory Council’s stewardship of 

resources entrusted to it.

Contents
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Comprehensive Operating Statement for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020 48

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2020 49

Cash Flow Statement for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020 50

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020 51

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Financial Year Ended  30 June 2020 52

1. About This Report 52

2. Funding Delivery of Our Services 54

3. The Cost of Delivering Services 55

4. Key Assets Available to Support Output Delivery 59

5. Other Assets and Liabilities 61

6. How We Financed Our Operations 63

7. Risk Contingencies and Valuation Judgements 68

8. Other Disclosures 73

Disclosure Index 86
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Declaration in the Financial Statements

Accountable Officer, Chief Finance and Accounting 
Officer and Chairperson’s Declaration
The attached financial statements for the Sentencing Advisory Council have been prepared 

in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under 

the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian 

Accounting Standards including interpretations, and other mandatory professional 

reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive 

operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement 

and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 

30 June 2020 and financial position of the Council at 30 June 2020.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any 

particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 7 December 2020. 

Prof, Arie Freiberg AM

Board Chairperson 

Sentencing Advisory Council 

Melbourne 

7 December 2020

Cynthia Marwood

Chief Executive Officer 

Sentencing Advisory Council 

Melbourne 

7 December 2020

Michael Almond

Chief Finance and 

Accounting Officer 

Sentencing Advisory Council

Melbourne 

7 December 2020



 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Sentencing Advisory Council 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Sentencing Advisory Council (the Council) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2020 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• declaration of accountable officer, chief finance and accounting officer, and 

chairperson. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Council as at 30 June 2020 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the 
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the Council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 



 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Sentencing Advisory Council 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Sentencing Advisory Council (the Council) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2020 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• declaration of accountable officer, chief finance and accounting officer, and 

chairperson. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Council as at 30 June 2020 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the 
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the Council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 
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Other 
information 

The Board of the Council is responsible for the Other Information, which comprises the 
information in the Council's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not 
include the financial report and my auditor’s report thereon. My opinion on the financial 
report does not cover the Other Information and accordingly, I do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion on the Other Information. However, in connection with my audit of 
the financial report, my responsibility is to read the Other Information and in doing so, 
consider whether it is materially inconsistent with the financial report or the knowledge I 
obtained during the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the Other 
Information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Board of the Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the Council’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board. 

3 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 
(continued) 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Council to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 

 
MELBOURNE 
15 December 2020 

Janaka Kumara 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 



48

	 Comprehensive Operating Statement

Comprehensive Operating Statement 
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020

Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Income from transactions  

Grants – Department of Justice and Community Safety 2.1 1,924,500 1,777,000 

Total income from transactions 1,924,500 1,777,000 

Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3.1.1 1,525,405 1,414,930 

Depreciation expense 4.1.1 118,794 –

Interest expense 6.1.2 6,126 –

Supplies and services 3.2 206,809 339,535

Total expenses from transactions 1,857,134 1,754,465 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance) 67,366 22,535 

Other economic flows included in net result

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 8.1 (9,390) (18,820)

Total other economic flows included in net result (9,390) (18,820)

Net result 57,976 3,715

Comprehensive result 57,976 3,715

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet 
as at 30 June 2020

Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Assets

Receivables 5.1 868,353 770,077 

Total financial assets 868,353 770,077 

Other non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 356,381 –

Prepayments 5.2 – 766 

Total non-financial assets 356,381 766 

Total assets 1,224,734 770,843 

Liabilities

Payables 5.3 54,843 57,831 

Borrowings 6.1 365,999 –

Provisions 3.1.2 407,022 374,118 

Total liabilities 827,864 431,949 

Net assets 396,870 338,894 

Equity

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 75,388 17,412 

Contributed capital 321,482 321,482 

Net worth 396,870 338,894 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement 
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020

Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts   

Receipts from the Department of Justice and 
Community Safety

1,826,224 1,797,810 

Total receipts 1,826,224 1,797,810 

Payments   

Payments to suppliers and employees 1,710,922 (1,797,810)

Interest expense 6,126 –

Total payments 1,717,048 (1,797,810)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 6.3.1 109,176 –

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of lease liabilities 6.2.3 (109,176)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (109,176) –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year

– –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year

– –

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2020

Accumulated surplus 
$

Contributed capital 
$

Total 
$

Balance at 1 July 2018 13,697 321,482 335,179 

Net result for year 3,715 – 3,715 

Balance at 30 June 2019 17,412 321,482 338,894 

Net result for year 57,976 – 57,976 

Balance at 30 June 2020 75,388 321,482 396,870 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.



52

	 Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Financial Year Ended  30 June 2020

1. About This Report
The Council is an independent government-funded body established under Part 9A of the 

Sentencing Act 1991. The Council was formed to implement and enable properly informed 

public opinion to be considered in the sentencing process, as well as the dissemination 

of up-to-date and accurate sentencing data to assist judges in their role to promote 

consistency in sentencing outcomes.

Its principal address is:

Sentencing Advisory Council
3/333 Queen Street

Melbourne VIC 3000

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the Council.

A description of the nature of the Council’s operations and its principal activities is included 

in the report of operations (pages 4–43), which does not form part of these financial statements.

Basis of Preparation
These financial statements are in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is 

used unless a different measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated 

with the item measured on a different basis. 

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these financial statements, 

whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting 

period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions by owners 

(that is, contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, 

therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses of the Council. 

Additions to net assets that have been designated as contributions by owners are 

recognised as contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions to 

or distributions by owners have also been designated as contributions by owners. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial 

information being presented. The significant judgements made in the preparation of 

these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those 

judgements are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional 

judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
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Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate 

is revised and also in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and 

assumptions made by management in applying AAS that have significant effects on the 

financial statements and estimates are disclosed in the notes under the heading: ‘Risk 

Contingencies and Valuation Judgements’.

These financial statements cover the Sentencing Advisory Council as an individual reporting 

entity and include all the controlled activities of the Council. 

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar unless 

otherwise stated.

COVID-19 Impacts
A state of emergency was declared in Victoria on 16 March 2020 due to the global 

coronavirus pandemic, known as COVID-19. A state of disaster was subsequently declared 

on 2 August 2020. To contain the spread of the virus and to prioritise the health and safety 

of our communities, various restrictions have been announced and implemented by the 

state government, which in turn has impacted the manner in which businesses operate, 

including the Sentencing Advisory Council.

In response, the Council placed restrictions on non-essential visitors and implemented 

work from home arrangements where appropriate. The Council’s approved work program 

has continued throughout this period with minimal disruption to outputs and no significant 

impact on its financial operations.

Compliance Information
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

FMA and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) which include interpretations, 

issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  In particular, they are 

presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 1049 Whole of 

Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting (AASB 1049). 

Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have been 

applied. Accounting policies selected and applied in these financial statements ensure 

that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, 

thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events 

is reported. 

To gain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, a glossary of terms 

and style conventions can be found in Notes 8.10 and 8.11.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board Chairperson of 

the Council on 7 December 2020.
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2. Funding Delivery of Our Services

Introduction
To enable the Council to fulfil its objectives and provide outputs, it receives income 

consisting of accrual-based parliamentary appropriations.

Structure
2.1 Summary of Income That Funds the Delivery of Our Services 54

2.1 Summary of Income That Funds the Delivery of Our Services

Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Grants 

Department of Justice and Community Safety 1,924,500 1,777,000 

Total grants 1,924,500 1,777,000 

Total income 1,924,500 1,777,000 

The Council has determined that all grant income is recognised as income of not-for-profit 

entities in accordance with AASB 1058, except for grants that are enforceable and with 

sufficiently specific performance obligations and accounted for as revenue from contracts 

with customers in accordance with AASB 15.

The adoption of AASB 1058 did not have an impact on other comprehensive income and 

the statement of cash flows for the financial year. 

Income from grants without any sufficiently specific performance obligations, or that are 

not enforceable, is recognised when the Council has an unconditional right to receive cash 

that usually coincides with receipt of cash. On initial recognition of the asset, the Council 

recognises any related contributions by owners, increases in liabilities, decreases in assets, 

and revenue (‘related amounts’) in accordance with other Australian Accounting Standards. 

Related amounts may take the form of: 

(a)	 contributions by owners, in accordance with AASB 1004;

(b)	 a lease liability, in accordance with AASB 16; 

(c)	 a financial instrument, in accordance with AASB 9; or

(d)	 a provision, in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets.
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Previous Accounting Policy for 30 June 2019

Grant income arises from transactions in which a party provides goods or 

assets (or extinguishes a liability) to the Council without receiving approximately 

equal value in return. While grants may result in the provision of some goods or services 

to the transferring party, they do not provide a claim to receive benefits directly of 

approximately equal value (and are termed ‘non-reciprocal’ transfers). Receipt and sacrifice 

of approximately equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. 

For non-reciprocal grants, the Council recognises revenue when the grant is received.

Grants can be received as general-purpose grants, which refers to grants that are not 

subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be received as specific-

purpose grants, which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached 

regarding their use.

3. The Cost of Delivering Services

Introduction
This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the Sentencing Advisory 

Council in delivering services and outputs. In Section 2, the funds that enable the provision 

of services were disclosed and in this note the costs associated with the provision of 

services are recorded.

Structure
3.1 Expenses Incurred in Delivery of Services 55

3.2 Other Operating Expenses 58

3.1 Expenses Incurred in Delivery of Services 

3.1.1 Employee Benefits in the Comprehensive Operating Statement

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, 

fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums. 

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in relation to 

superannuation is employer contributions for members of both defined benefit and 

defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable during the reporting 

period. The Council does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no 

legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees. Instead, the 

Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) discloses in its annual financial statements the 

net defined benefit cost related to the members of these plans as an administered liability 

(on behalf of the state as the sponsoring employer). 
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Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Employee expenses

Post-employment benefits: 

– Defined contribution superannuation expense 102,811 104,206 

– Defined benefit superannuation expense 15,113 15,072 

Salaries, wages, annual leave and long service leave 1,333,046 1,218,706 

Other on-costs (fringe benefits tax, payroll tax and 
WorkCover levy) 

  74,435 76,946 

 Total employee expenses   1,525,405 1,414,930 

3.1.2 Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 

annual leave and long service leave (LSL) for services rendered to the reporting date and 

recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered. 

2020 
$

2019 
$

Current provisions

Annual leave

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 78,839 62,975 

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 11,202 9,538 

Long service leave

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 22,216 15,217 

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 183,906 176,470 

296,163 264,199 

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 23,843 21,633 

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 31,788 29,086 

55,631 50,719 

Total current provisions 351,794 314,918 

Non-current provisions

Employee benefits – long service leave 47,852 51,294 

Employee benefits on-costs 7,376 7,906 

Total non-current provisions 55,228 59,200 

Total provisions 407,022 374,118 
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3.1.3 Reconciliation of Movement in On-Cost Provision

2020 
$

2019 
$

Opening balance 58,624 64,143 

Additional provisions recognised 41,362 30,788 

Reduction arising from payments/other sacrifices of future 
economic benefits

(36,979) (36,307)

Closing balance 63,007 58,624 

Current 55,631 48,330 

Non-current 7,376 10,294 

63,007 58,624 

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave: Liabilities for wages and salaries 

(including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and on-costs) are recognised as part of 

the employee benefit provision as current liabilities, because the Council does not have an 

unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

The liability for salaries and wages is recognised in the balance sheet at remuneration 

rates, which are current at the reporting date. As the Council expects the liabilities 

to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date, they are measured at 

undiscounted amounts. 

The annual leave liability is classified as a current liability and measured at the 

undiscounted amount expected to be paid, as the Council does not have an unconditional 

right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 

reporting period. 

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not 

considered probable that the average sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the 

benefits accrued in the future. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the 

statement of comprehensive income as it is taken. 

Employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are 

not employee benefits. They are disclosed separately as a component of the provision for 

employee benefits when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability, even where the Council does not 

expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional 

right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave 

within 12 months. 

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

•	 undiscounted value – if the Council expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

•	 present value – if the Council does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months. 
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Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is a conditional right to defer 

the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of 

service. This non-current LSL is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is 

recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes 

in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in 

the net result.

3.1.4 Superannuation Contributions

  Paid contribution for the year

  2020 
$

2019 
$

Defined benefit plans:

State Superannuation Fund 15,114 15,072 

Defined contribution plans:

 VicSuper 33,958 49,915 

 Various other funds 68,853 54,291 

Total 117,925 119,278 

3.2 Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred 

in normal operations. It also includes bad debts expense from transactions that are 

mutually agreed.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they 

are incurred. 

Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Supplies and services

Purchase of supplies and consumables 49,972 50,393 

Purchase of services 80,198 88,448 

Maintenance 3,577 4,075 

Rental costs and outgoings 73,062 196,619 

Total supplies and services 206,809 339,535 
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4. Key Assets Available to Support Output Delivery

Introduction
The Council controls property, plant and equipment that are utilised in fulfilling its 

objectives and conducting its activities. They represent the resources that have been 

entrusted to the Council to be utilised for delivery of those outputs. 

Fair Value Measurement

Where the assets included in this section are carried at fair value, additional information is 

disclosed in Note 7.3 in connection with how those fair values were determined.

Structure
4.1 Total Property, Plant and Equipment 59

4.1 Total Property, Plant and Equipment

  Gross carrying amount Accumulated 
depreciation

Net carrying amount

 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Right-of-use 
leased office space

475,175 – (118,794) 356,381

Net carrying 
amount 

475,175 – (118,794) – 356,381 –

Right-of-Use Asset Acquired by Lessees (Under AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019) – Initial 
Measurement

The Council recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 

date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 

of the lease liability adjusted for:

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 

incentive received; plus 

•	 any initial direct costs incurred; and 

•	 an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 

underlying asset or the site on which it is located.

Subsequent measurement: Right-of-use assets under leases and service concession 

assets are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment. Fair value is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and best use 

(considering legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset, public announcements or 

commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset) and is summarised on the 

following page by asset category. Refer to Note 7.3 for additional information on fair value 

determination of property, plant and equipment. 
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The Council depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease 

commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 

the end of the lease term. The right-of-use assets are also subject to revaluation. 

In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 

adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

The recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets of not-for-profit entities, which 

are typically specialised in nature and held for continuing use of their service capacity, is expected 

to be materially the same as fair value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, 

with the consequence that AASB 136 does not apply to such assets that are regularly revalued. 

4.1.1 Depreciation and Amortisation

Charge for the period(a) 2020 
$

2019 
$

Building 118,794 –

Total depreciation and amortisation 118,794 –

(a)	 The table incorporates depreciation of right-of-use assets as AASB 16 Leases have been applied 
for the first time from 1 July 2019.  

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and 

the lease term. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s 

value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. The estimated 

useful life of the leased asset for the current year was based on the remaining term of the 

building lease at 1 July 2019 – 4 years.  

The estimated useful life, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed at the end 

of each annual reporting period, and adjustments made where appropriate.

4.1.2 Carrying Values by ‘Purpose’ Groups

  Total public safety and 
environment purpose group

 2020 2019

Nature-based classification   

Buildings at fair value(a) 356,381 –

Net carrying amount 356,381 –

(a)	 Property, plant and equipment are classified primarily by the ‘purpose’ for which the assets are used, 
according to one of six purpose groups based on government purpose classifications. All assets in a 
purpose groups are further sub-categorised according to the asset’s ‘nature’ (i.e. buildings, plant etc.), 
with each sub-category being classified as a separate class of asset for financial reporting purposes.
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4.1.3 Reconciliation of Movements in Carrying Amount of Property, Plant and 
Equipment

 Buildings 
$

Opening balance 1 July 2019 0

Recognition of right-of-use assets on initial application of AASB 16(a) 475,175  

Depreciation (118,794)

Closing balance 30 June 2020 356,381 

(a)	 This balance represents the initial recognition of right-of-use assets recorded on the balance 
sheet on 1 July 2019 relating to operating leases – refer to Note 8.2.3. 

5. Other Assets and Liabilities

Introduction
This section sets out the remaining assets and liabilities that arose from the Council’s 

operations.

Structure
5.1 Receivables 61

5.2 Other Non-Financial Assets 62

5.3 Payable 62

5.1 Receivables

2020 
$

2019 
$

Current receivables

Statutory 

Amount owing from Department of Justice and Community 
Safety

813,125 710,876 

Total current receivables 813,125 710,876 

Non-current receivables

Statutory 

Amount owing from Department of Justice and Community 
Safety 

55,228 59,201 

Total non-current receivables 55,228 59,201 

Total receivables 868,353 770,077 
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Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and are recognised and measured 

similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), but are not classified as 

financial instruments for disclosure purposes. The Council applies AASB 9 for initial 

measurement of the statutory receivables and as a result statutory receivables are initially 

recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost. Amounts recognised 

from the Victorian Government represent funding for all commitments incurred and are 

drawn from the consolidated fund as the commitments fall due.

Details about the Council’s impairment policies exposure to credit risk and the calculation 

of the allowance are in Note 7.

5.2 Other Non-Financial Assets

2020 
$

2019 
$

 Prepayments – 766

 Total other non-financial assets – 766

5.3 Payables

2020 
$

2019 
$

Current payables

Contractual 

Supplies and services 11,387 26,498 

Employee benefits 43,456 31,333 

Total payables 54,843 57,831 

Payables consist of contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and measured 

at amortised cost. Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 

the Council prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid.

Payables for supplies and services have an average credit period of 30 days. No interest is 

charged on the ‘other payables’ for the first 30 days from the date of the invoice. 

The terms and conditions of amounts payable to the government and agencies vary 

according to the particular agreements and as they are not legislative payables, they are 

not classified as financial instruments.
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5.3.1 Maturity Analysis of Contractual Payables

      Maturity dates 

Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount

Less than 
1 month

1–3 
months

3 months 
– 1 year

1–5 
years

2020

Payables

Supplies and services 11,387 11,387 11,387 – – –

Other payables 43,456 43,456 43,456 – – –

Total 54,843 54,843 54,843 – – –

2019

Payables 

Supplies and services 26,498 26,498 26,498 – – –

Other payables 31,333 31,333 31,333 – – –

Total 57,831 57,831 57,831 – – –

6. How We Financed Our Operations

Introduction
This section provides information on the operating lease arrangements that have been 

classified as borrowings under AASB 16 from the 1 July 2019, along with interest expenses 

(the cost of borrowings) and other information related to these financing activities of 

the Council. 

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as 

borrowings). Notes 7.1 and 7.3 provide additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.

Structure
6.1 Borrowings 63

6.2 Leases 64

6.3 Cash Flow Information 67

6.4 Commitments for Expenditure 67

6.1 Borrowings
‘Borrowings’ refer to the lease liabilities for the right-of-use asset. Borrowings are classified 

as financial instruments. The Council has designated the ROU asset lease at fair value 

through net result to eliminate or significantly reduce the accounting mismatch that 

would otherwise arise. For financial liabilities designated at fair value through net result, 
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all transaction costs are expensed as incurred. And they are subsequently measured at fair 

value with changes in fair value relating to the Council’s own credit risk recognised in other 

comprehensive income and the remaining amount of changes in fair value recognised in 

net result. 

 2020 
$

2019 
$

Current borrowings

Lease liabilities ROU asset(a) 115,402 –

Total current borrowings 115,402 –

Non‑current borrowings

Lease liabilities ROU asset(a) 250,597 –

Total non‑current borrowings 250,597 –

Total borrowings 365,999 –

(a)	 Secured by the assets leased.  Leases liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased 
assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.

6.1.1 Maturity Analysis of Borrowings

Maturity dates

Maturity analysis of 
borrowings

Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount

Less than 
1 month

1–3 
months

3 months 
– 1 year

1–5 
years

2020

Lease liabilities 365,999 374,329 9,992       19,984 89,939 254,414 

Total 365,999 374,329 9,992 19,984 89,939 254,414

6.1.2 Interest Expense

Interest expense 2020

Interest on lease liabilities 6,126

6.2 Leases
Information about leases for which the Council is a lessee is presented below.

The Councils’ Leasing Activities

The Council leases its office space; the lease contract for the office space is for a five-year 

period with an option to extend for a further five years. The operating lease contracts 

contain market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. 

Lease payments for the office space are renegotiated every five years to reflect market 

rentals. As at 30 June 2020 the lease term remaining was three years.
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6.2.1 Right-of-Use Assets 

Right-of-use assets are presented in Note 4.1. 

6.2.2 Amounts Recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement 

The following amounts are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement relating 

to leases.

Amounts recognised in the comprehensive operating statement 2020

Interest expense on lease liabilities 6,126

Total amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement 6,126

6.2.3 Amounts Recognised in the Statement of Cash Flows

The following amounts are recognised in the statement of cash flows for the year ending 

30 June 2020 relating to leases. 

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows 2020

Interest expense on lease liabilities 6,126

Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities 109,176

Total cash outflow for leases 115,302

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 July 2019, the Council considers whether 

a contract is or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that 

conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for 

consideration’. To apply this definition the Council assesses whether the contract meets 

three key evaluations: 

•	 whether the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified 

in the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is 

made available to the Council and for which the supplier does not have substantive 

substitution rights; 

•	 whether the Council has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits 

from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights 

within the defined scope of the contract and the Council has the right to direct the use 

of the identified asset throughout the period of use; and

•	 whether the Council has the right to take decisions in respect of ‘how and for what 

purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or after 1 July 2019.

Separation of Lease and Non-Lease Components

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the lessee 

is required to separate out and account separately for non-lease components within a 

lease contract and exclude these amounts when determining the lease liability and right-of-

use asset amount. 
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Recognition and Measurement of Leases as a Lessee (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019)

Lease Liability – Initial Measurement

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at 

the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate 

is readily determinable or the Council’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

•	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentive 

receivable;

•	 variable payments based on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date;

•	 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

•	 payments arising from purchase and termination options reasonably certain to 

be exercised.

Lease Liability – Subsequent Measurement

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and 

increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if 

there are changes in-substance fixed payments. 

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the 

right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero. 

Presentation of Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities

The Council presents right-of-use assets as ‘property, plant and equipment’ in the balance 

sheet. Lease liabilities are presented as ‘borrowings’ in the balance sheet. 

Recognition and Measurement of Leases (under AASB 117 until 30 June 2019)

In the comparative period, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as 

either finance leases or operating leases. 

The Council determined whether an arrangement was or contained a lease based on 

the substance of the arrangement and required an assessment of whether fulfilment of 

the arrangement is dependent on the use of the specific asset(s), and the arrangement 

conveyed in a right to use the asset(s). 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Council as a lessee had substantially 

all of the risks and rewards of ownership were classified as finance leases. Finance leases 

were initially recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair value of 

the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each 

determined at the inception of the lease. The leased asset is accounted for as a non-

financial physical asset and depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of 

the asset or the term of the lease. Minimum finance lease payments were apportioned 

between the reduction of the outstanding lease liability and the periodic finance expense, 
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which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the 

consolidated comprehensive operating statement.

Contingent rentals associated with finance leases were recognised as an expense in the 

period in which they were incurred.

Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognised 

in the Council’s balance sheet. Operating lease payments were recognised as an operating 

expense in the comprehensive operating statement on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term.

6.3 Cash Flow Information

6.3.1  Reconciliation of Net Result for the Period to Cash Flow from Operating Activities 

2020 
$

2019 
$

Reconciliation of net result for the period to net cash flows 
from operating activities

Net result for the period 57,976 3,715 

Non-cash movements

Depreciation 118,794 –

Loss arising from revaluation of LSL 9,390 18,820 

Movements in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 766 (766)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (98,276) 39,630 

Increase/(decrease) in payables (2,988) 14,817 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 23,514 (76,216)

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities 109,176 –

6.4 Commitments for Expenditure
Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising 

from contracts. These commitments are recorded at their nominal value and inclusive of 

GST. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related 

liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

There were no commitments for operating or capital expenditure as at 30 June 2020 

($nil – 2019).
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7. Risk Contingencies and Valuation Judgements

Introduction
The Sentencing Advisory Council is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In 

addition, it is often necessary to make judgements and estimates associated with recognition 

and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial 

instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as those 

items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied.

Structure
7.1 Financial Instruments Specific Disclosures 68

7.2 Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities 71

7.3 Fair Value Determination 72

7.4 How This Section Is Structured 72

7.1 Financial Instruments Specific Disclosures

Introduction

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset 

of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the 

nature of the Council’s activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under 

statute rather than a contract (e.g. taxes, fines and penalties). Such assets and liabilities 

do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 

Presentation.

The Council applies AASB 9 and classifies all of its financial assets based on the business 

model for managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms. 

Categories of Financial Liabilities under AASB 9 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are 

originated. They are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are 

measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and 

the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest-

bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method. The Council recognises the 

following liabilities in this category:

•	 payables (excluding statutory payables); and

•	 borrowings (including operating lease liabilities).

Reclassification of financial instruments: Subsequent to initial recognition 

reclassification of financial liabilities is not permitted.

Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the 

obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 

substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 

such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 

and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 

recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the comprehensive operating statement. 

7.1.1 Financial Instruments: Categorisation

Contractual financial liabilities 
at amortised cost 

$

 
Total 

$

2020 Payables

Supplies and services 11,387 11,387 

Other payables 43,456 43,456 

Total contractual financial liabilities 54,843 54,843 

2019 Payables

Supplies and services 26,498 26,498 

Other payables 31,333 31,333 

Total contractual financial liabilities 57,831 57,831 

7.1.2 Financial Instruments – Net Holding Gain/(Loss) on Financial Instruments 
by Category

There were no net holding gains (losses) on financial instruments during 2019–20.

7.1.3 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
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As a whole, the Council’s financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks 

and the associated volatility of its financial performance. 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria 

for recognition, the basis of measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses 

are recognised, with respect to each class of financial liability and equity instrument above 

are disclosed in Note 7.3 to the financial statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the Council’s 

financial risks within the government policy parameters. 

The Council’s main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate 

risk. The Council manages these financial risks in accordance with its financial risk 

management policy. 

The Council uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it 

is exposed. Primary responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks 

rests with the Accountable Officer of the Council. 

7.1.4 Credit Risk 

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of the Council, which comprise 

non-statutory receivables. The Council’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential 

default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 

Council. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis. Credit 

risk associated with the Council’s contractual financial assets is minimal because the main 

debtor is the Department of Justice and Community Safety.

Currently there are no contractual financial assets. 

7.1.5 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Council would be unable to meet its financial obligations 

as and when they fall due. The Council operates under the government fair payments 

policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, make 

payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.  The Council manages liquidity risk 

through monitoring future cash flows and maturities.

7.1.6 Market Risk

The Council has only insignificant exposure to market risk.

Interest rate risk: Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Council does 

not hold any interest-bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, and 

therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.
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Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument 

will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Council has minimal 

exposure to cash flow interest rate risks. 

The Council manages this risk by mainly undertaking fixed rate or non-interest-bearing 

financial instruments with relatively even maturity profiles, with only insignificant amounts 

of financial instruments at floating rate. 

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rates and the 

Council’s sensitivity to interest rate risk are set out in the table that follows.

2020 Weighted 
average interest 

rate (%)

Carrying 
amount(a)

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non‑ 
interest 
bearing

Financial liabilities          

Supplies and services 11,387 11,387 

Other payables 43,456 43,456 

Lease liabilities 1.45 365,999 365,999 

Total financial liabilities 420,842 365,999 54,843 

(a)	 The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from 
Victorian Government and GST input tax credit recoverable).

2019 Weighted 
average interest 

rate (%)

Carrying 
amount(a)

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non‑ 
interest 
bearing

Financial liabilities           

Supplies and services 26,498 26,498 

Other payables 31,333 31,333 

Total financial liabilities 57,831     57,831 

(a)	 The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from 
Victorian Government and GST input tax credit recoverable).

7.2 Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are 

disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.

The Council had no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2020 (no contingent assets 

or liabilities at 30 June 2019).
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7.3 Fair Value Determination
This section sets out information on how the Council determined fair value for financial reporting 

purposes. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

The following assets and liabilities are carried at fair value: 

•	 financial assets and liabilities at fair value through operating result.

In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised cost 

also need to be determined for disclosure purposes. The Council determines the policies 

and procedures for determining fair values for both financial and non-financial assets and 

liabilities as required.

Fair Value Hierarchy

In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and 

comparability in the financial statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, 

also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as follows:

•	 Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities;

•	 Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and 

•	 Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is unobservable.

The Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 

by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Council monitors changes in the fair value of each asset and liability through relevant 

data sources to determine whether revaluation is required.

7.4 How This Section Is Structured
For those assets and liabilities for which fair values are determined, the following 

disclosures are provided:

•	 carrying amount and the fair value (which would be the same for those assets 

measured at fair value);

•	 which level of the fair value hierarchy was used to determine the fair value; and

•	 in respect of those assets and liabilities subject to fair value determination using 

Level 3 inputs:

	– a reconciliation of the movements in fair values from the beginning of the year to 

the end; and

	– details of significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value determination.
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Fair Value Determination of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The fair values and net fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 

•	 Level 1 – the fair value of financial instruments with standard terms and conditions and 

traded in active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

•	 Level 2 – the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are 

observable for the financial asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 – the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing 

models based on discounted cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The Council currently holds a range of financial instruments that are recorded in the 

financial statements where the carrying amounts approximate to fair value, due to their 

short-term nature or with the expectation that they will be paid in full by the end of the 

2019–20 reporting period.  The Council applies Level 2 fair value determination to all assets 

and liabilities.

These financial instruments include:

Financial assets Financial liabilities

Payables:
	– For supplies and services
	– Lease liabilities
	– Other payables 

There have been no transfers between levels.

8. Other Disclosures

Introduction
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or 

otherwise, for the understanding of this financial report.

Structure
8.1 Other Economic Flows Included in Net Results 74

8.2 Change in Accounting Policies 74

8.3 Responsible Persons 77

8.4 Remuneration of Executives 78

8.5 Related Parties 79

8.6 Remuneration of Auditors 81

8.7 Subsequent Events 81

8.8 Other Accounting Policies 81

8.9 Australian Accounting Standards Issued That Are Not Yet Effective 82

8.10 Glossary of Technical Terms 83

8.11 Style Conventions 84
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8.1 Other Economic Flows Included in Net Results
Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not 

result from transactions. Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains 

or losses from:

•	 the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in 

the bond interest rates.

2020 
$

2019 
$

 Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave liability (9,390) (18,820)

 Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows (9,390) (18,820)

8.2 Change in Accounting Policies 

8.2.1 Leases 

This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 Leases on the Council’s financial 

statements. 

The Council has applied AASB 16 with a date of initial application of 1 July 2019. 

The Council has elected to apply AASB 16 using the modified retrospective approach, 

as per the transitional provisions of AASB 16 for all leases for which it is a lessee. The 

cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in retained earnings as at 1 July 2019. 

Accordingly, the comparative information presented is not restated and is reported under 

AASB 117 and related interpretations. 

Previously, the Council determined at contract inception whether an arrangement is or 

contains a lease under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement 

Contains a Lease. Under AASB 16, the Council assesses whether a contract is or contains a 

lease based on the definition of a lease as explained in Note 6.2. 

On transition to AASB 16, the Council has elected to apply the practical expedient to 

grandfather the assessment of which transactions are leases. It applied AASB 16 only to 

contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified as 

leases under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 were not reassessed for whether there is a 

lease. Therefore, the definition of a lease under AASB 16 was applied to contracts entered 

into or changed on or after 1 July 2019. 

Leases Classified as Operating Leases under AASB 117

As a lessee, the Council previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on 

its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the Council. Under AASB 16, the Council 

recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases except where exemption is 

availed in respect of short-term and low-value leases. 
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On adoption of AASB 16, the Council recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases that 

had previously been classified as operating leases under the principles of AASB 117. These 

liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted 

using the Council’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 July 2019. On transition, right-of-use 

assets are measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of 

any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the balance 

sheet as at 30 June 2019. 

The Council has elected to apply the following practical expedients when applying AASB 16 

to leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117:

•	 applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics;

•	 adjusted the right-of-use assets by the amount of AASB 137 onerous contracts 

provision immediately before the date of initial application, as an alternative to an 

impairment review;

•	 applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with 

less than 12 months of lease term;

•	 excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial 

application; and 

•	 used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to 

extend or terminate the lease.

Impacts on Financial Statements

On transition to AASB 16, the Council recognised $475,175 of right-of-use assets, and 

$475,175 of lease liabilities. 

When measuring lease liabilities, the Council discounted lease payments using its 

incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019. The weighted average rate applied is 

1.45 per cent. 

Impact on financial statements 1 July 2019

Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 30 June 2019 489,627

Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019 (14,452)

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019 475,175 

8.2.2 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 

In accordance with FRD 122 requirements, the Council has applied the transitional 

provision of AASB 1058, under modified retrospective method with the cumulative effect of 

initially applying this standard against the opening retained earnings at 1 July 2019. Under 

this transition method, the Council applied this standard retrospectively only to contracts 

and transactions that are not completed contracts at the date of initial application. 
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The Council has not applied the fair value measurement requirements for right-of-use 

assets arising from leases with significantly below-market terms and conditions principally 

to enable the entity to further its objectives as allowed under temporary option under 

AASB 16 and as mandated by FRD 122.

Comparative information has not been restated.

Note 2.1 Summary of Income That Funds the Delivery of Our Services includes details 

about the transitional application of AASB 1058 and how the standard has been applied to 

revenue transactions. 

The adoption of AASB 1058 did not have an impact on other comprehensive income and 

the statement of cash flows for the financial year.

8.2.3 Transition Impact on Financial Statements

Impact on the balance sheet due to the adoption of AASB 16 is illustrated with the following 

reconciliation between the restated carrying amounts at 30 June 2019 and the balances 

reported under the new accounting standards at 1 July 2019:

Balance sheet Notes Before new 
accounting 

standard

Impact of new 
accounting 

standard AASB 16

After new 
accounting 

standard

    Opening 1 July 2019 Opening 
1 July 2019

Receivables 770,077 770,077

Property, plant and equipment – 475,175 475,175

Total non-financial assets 766 – 766

Total assets   770,843 475,175 1,246,018

Payables and contract liabilities 5.3 57,831 57,831

Borrowings 6.1 – 475,175 475,175

Employee-related provisions 3.1.2 374,118 374,118

Total liabilities   431,949 475,175 907,124

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 17,412 – 17,412

Contributed capital 321,482 321,482

Total equity   338,894 – 338,894
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8.3 Responsible Persons 
In accordance with the ministerial directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under 

the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA), the following disclosures are made regarding 

responsible persons for the reporting period.

Names 

The persons who held the positions of Ministers and Accountable Officers of the 

Department of Justice and Community Safety are as follows:

Attorney-General The Hon. Jill Hennessy, MP 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Acting Attorney-General The Hon. Benjamin Carroll, MP 1 July 2019 to 5 July 2019

The Hon. Gavin Jennings, MP 6 July 2019 to 13 July 2019

The Hon. Benjamin Carroll, MP 14 July 2019 to 20 July 2019

The Hon. Gavin Jennings, MP 1 August 2019 to 10 August 2019

  The Hon. Benjamin Carroll, MP 20 December 2019 to 12 January 2020

Secretary to the 
Department of Justice 
and Community Safety

Rebecca Falkingham 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Acting Secretary Simon Cohen 2 October 2019 to 4 October 2019

Joshua Smith 10 October 2019 to 11 October 2019

Ryan Phillips 10 February 2020 to 12 February 2020

The persons who were responsible persons of the Council for the reporting period are 

as follows:

Chief Executive Officer Ms Cynthia Marwood 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Chairperson Professor Arie Freiberg AM 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Other Board Members Ms Carmel Arthur 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Mr Hugh de Kretser 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Mr David Grace QC 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Ms Helen Fatouros 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Mr John Griffin PSM 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Ms Lisa Ward 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Ms Fiona Dowsley 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Mr Brendan Kissane 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Ms Sherril Handley 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Ms Susanna Quinn 10 September 2019 to 30 June 2020

Ms Meena Singh 6 November 2019 to 30 June 2020

Ms Wendy Steendam 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020



78

	 Notes to the Financial Statements

8.3.1 Remuneration of Statutory Office Holders and Executives

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer in connection with the 

management of the Council during the reporting period was in the range: $200,000 – 

$210,000 ($180,000 – $190,000 in 2018–19).  

The number of statutory office holders and executive officers, other than ministers and 

departmental executives, and their total remuneration during the reporting period is 

shown below in the relevant income bands.

Several factors affect the total remuneration payable to statutory office holders and 

executives in the reporting period at the Council. Statutory office holders appointed as part-

time Board Members may be public sector employees and therefore as they already receive 

remuneration in their usual roles they are not entitled to receive remuneration as a member 

of the Council. Six Board Members were not remunerated during the 2019–20 financial year. 

Remuneration of KMPs 2020 2019

Short-term employee benefits 201,200 195,247 

Post-employment benefits 20,832 15,456 

Other long-term benefits 4,546 5,323 

Total 226,578 216,026 

Income Band 2020 
No.

2019 
No.

$0 – $9,999 13 12

$190,000 – $199,999 1

$200,000 – $209,999 1

Total numbers 14 13

8.4 Remuneration of Executives
The number of executive officers, other than ministers and accountable officers, and 

their total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total 

annualised employee equivalents provide a measure of full-time equivalent executive 

officers over the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits (as defined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits) in 

all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on behalf of the entity, 

in exchange for services rendered. Accordingly, remuneration is determined on an accrual 

basis, and is disclosed in the following categories. 

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave 

or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary 

benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.
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Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or 

payable on a discrete basis when employment has ceased. 

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or 

deferred compensation. 

Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance 

packages. 

Remuneration of executive officers (including key 
management personnel disclosed in Note 8.3.1)

2020 2019

Short-term employee benefits 182,016 170,797

Post-employment benefits 19,852 14,453

Other long-term benefits 4,546 5,323

Total remuneration(a) 206,414 190,573

Total number of executives remunerated 1 1

Total annualised employee equivalents(b) 1 1

(a)	 The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of key 
management personnel (KMP) of the entity under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also 
reported within the related parties note disclosure (Note 8.5).  

(b)	  Annualised employee equivalent is based on the time fraction worked over the reporting period. 

8.5 Related Parties 
The Council is an independent government-funded body established under Part 9A of the 

Sentencing Act 1991. It is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. 

Related parties of the Council include:

•	 all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business 

interests (controlled entities, joint ventures and entities they have significant influence 

over);

•	 all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

•	 all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the 

whole of state consolidated financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s-length basis.

Significant Transactions with Government-Related Entities 

The Council received funding of $1.92 million (2019: $1.78 million) from the Department of 

Justice and Community Safety. Payments of $170,045 (2019: $196,619) were made to the 

Victorian Law Reform Commission for accommodation and outgoings as a sub-leasee.

Other payments made to Victorian Government-related entities amounted to $165,626 

(2019: $183,104).
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Key management personnel of the Council include the Portfolio Minister, the Hon. Jill 

Hennessy, MP, the Chairperson, Board Members, and the Chief Executive Officer, which 

includes:

Ms Cynthia Marwood

Professor Arie Freiberg AM

Ms Carmel Arthur

Mr Hugh de Kretser 

Mr David Grace QC 

Ms Helen Fatouros

Mr John Griffin PSM 

Ms Lisa Ward 

Ms Fiona Dowsley

Mr Brendan Kissane

Ms Sherril Handley

Ms Susanna Quinn

Ms Meena Singh

Ms Wendy Steendam

The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and 

Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services 

Financial Report.

Transactions and Balances with Key Management Personnel and Other Related Parties

Given the breadth and depth of state government activities, related parties transact with 

the Victorian public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public, for 

example, stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further employment of 

processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent 

with the Public Administration Act 2004 and codes of conduct and standards issued by the 

Victorian Public Sector Council. Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions 

consistent with the Victorian Government Purchasing Board requirements. 

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Council, there were no related party 

transactions that involved key management personnel, their close family members and 

their personal business interests. No provision has been required, nor any expense 

recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.
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8.6 Remuneration of Auditors

2020 
$

2019 
$

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

Audit of the financial statements 16,400 15,600 

  16,400 15,600 

8.7 Subsequent Events
The policy in connection with recognising subsequent events that are for events that occur 

between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue is as follows:

•	 adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements where those 

events provide information about conditions that existed at the reporting date; and/or

•	 disclosure is made where the events relate to conditions that arose after the end of the 

reporting period that are considered to be of material interest.

The Council acknowledges that the COVID-19 pandemic has created unprecedented 

economic uncertainty. Actual economic events and conditions in the future may be 

materially different from those estimated by the Council at the reporting date. As 

responses by government continue to evolve, management recognises that it is difficult to 

reliably estimate with any degree of certainty the potential impact of the pandemic after 

the reporting date on the Council, its operations, its future results and financial position. 

The state of emergency in Victoria was extended on 21 November 2020 until 6 December 

2020 and the state of disaster ended on 21 November 2020.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year that 

significantly affected or may affect the operations of the Council, the results of the 

operations or the state of affairs of the Council in the future financial years.

8.8 Other Accounting Policies

Contributions by Owners 

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions by owners 

(that is, contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, 

therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses of the Council.
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8.9 Australian Accounting Standards Issued That Are Not Yet Effective 
Certain new and revised accounting standards have been issued but are not effective for 

the 2019–20 reporting period. These accounting standards have not been applied to the 

Model Financial Statements. The state is reviewing its existing policies and assessing the 

potential implications of these accounting standards, which include:

•	 AASB 2018–7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material

•	 This standard principally amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and 

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. It applies 

to reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 with earlier application 

permitted. The Council has not earlier adopted the standard.

The amendments refine and clarify the definition of material in AASB 101 and its 

application by improving the wording and aligning the definition across AASB standards 

and other publications. The amendments also include some supporting requirements 

in AASB 101 in the definition to give it more prominence and clarify the explanation 

accompanying the definition of material.

The Council is in the process of analysing the impacts of this standard. However, it is not 

anticipated to have a material impact:

•	 AASB 2020–1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities 

as Current or Non‑Current. This standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements for 

the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position as current or non-

current. It initially applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2022 with earlier application permitted; however, the AASB has recently issued ED 

301 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current – Deferral of Effective Date with 

the intention to defer the application by one year to periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2023. The Council will not early adopt the standard.

Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply 

to future reporting periods, but are considered to have limited impact on the Council’s 

reporting. 

•	 AASB 17 Insurance Contracts;

•	 AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and 

Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities (Appendix C);

•	 AASB 2019–3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark 

Reform; and

•	 AASB 2019–5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of the Effect of 

New IFRS Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia.
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8.10 Glossary of Technical Terms
The following is a summary of the major technical terms used in this report.

Borrowings refers to lease liabilities and other interest-bearing arrangements. 

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments 

arising from non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources.

Comprehensive result is the amount included in the operating statement representing 

total change in net worth other than transactions with owners as owners.

Controlled item generally refers to the capacity of the Council to benefit from that item 

in the pursuit of the entity’s objectives and to deny or regulate the access of others to that 

benefit. 

Current grants are amounts payable or receivable for current purposes for which no 

economic benefits of equal value are receivable or payable in return.

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and 

salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits 

superannuation plans, and defined contribution superannuation plans.

Financial asset is any asset that is a contractual right:

•	 to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

•	 to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 

that are potentially favourable to the entity.

Financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 

financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial liability is any liability that is:

(a)	 a contractual obligation:

	– to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

	– to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under 

conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Financial statements in this report comprise:

(a)	 a balance sheet as at the end of the period;

(b)	 a comprehensive operating statement for the period;

(c)	 a statement of changes in equity for the period;

(d)	 a cash flow statement for the period; and

(e)	 notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information.

Interest expense represents costs incurred in connection with borrowings. It includes 

interest components of lease repayments, and amortisation of discounts or premiums in 

relation to borrowings.
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	 Notes to the Financial Statements

Leases are rights conveyed in a contract, or part of a contract, the right to use an asset (the 

underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration 

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the 

net result of items of revenue, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the 

period, excluding those classified as ‘other non-owner movements in equity’. 

Net worth is calculated as assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth. 

Operating result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. 

It is the net result of items of revenue, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for 

the period, excluding those that are classified as ‘other non-owner movements in equity’. 

Refer also ‘net result’. 

Other economic flows included in net result are changes in the volume or value of an 

asset or liability that do not result from transactions. In simple terms, other economic flows 

are changes arising from market remeasurements. They include gains and losses from 

disposals, revaluations and impairments of non-current physical and intangible assets and 

fair value changes of financial instruments. 

Payables includes short and long-term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and 

interest payable.

Receivables includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, 

short -and long-term trade credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, 

grants, taxes and interest receivable.

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running 

costs, including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Council. 

Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy 

decisions, usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also 

include flows into an entity such as depreciation, where the owner is simultaneously acting 

as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by 

the asset. Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government 

and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge 

or for nominal consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. In simple terms, 

transactions arise from the policy decisions of the government.

8.11 Style Conventions
Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between 

totals and sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are 

based on the underlying unrounded amounts.
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The notation used in the tables is as follows:

..	 zero, or rounded to zero

(xxx.x)	 negative numbers

200x	 year period

200x 0x	 year period

The financial statements and notes are presented based on the illustration for a 

government department in the 2019–20 Model Report for Victorian Government 

departments. The presentation of other disclosures is generally consistent with the other 

disclosures made in earlier publications of the Council’s annual reports.
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	 Disclosure Index

Disclosure Index

The annual report of the Council is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian 

legislations and pronouncements. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification 

of the Department’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page reference

Standing Directions and Financial Reporting Directions

Report of operations 

Charter and purpose

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant ministers 7, 52, 79 

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 7–9, 22, 25, 31, 35

FRD 8D Departmental objectives, indicators and outputs 7, 8

FRD 22H Key initiatives and projects 22–35

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 22, 25, 31, 35

Management and structure

FRD 22H Organisational structure 15

Financial and other information

FRD 8D Performance against output performance measures 22–35

FRD 10A Disclosure index 86–87

FRD 15E Executive officer disclosures 77–80

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 42

FRD 22H Occupational health and safety policy 40

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 38

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 49

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance 53

FRD 22H Subsequent events 81

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 39

FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building 
Act 1993

39

FRD 22H Statement on National Competition Policy –

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 41–42

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 –

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 41

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 –

FRD 22H Disclosure of government advertising expenditure 39

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure –
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Legislation Requirement Page reference

FRD 22H Statement of availability of other information 36

FRD 24D Reporting of office-based environmental impacts 39

FRD 25D Local Jobs First 40

FRD 29C Workforce data disclosures 43

SD 5.2 Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2 45

Compliance attestation and declaration

SD 5.4.1 Attestation for compliance with ministerial standing direction 36

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations –

Financial statements

Declaration

SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 45

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements

53

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Standing Directions 36

SD 5.2.1(b) Compliance with Model Financial Report 85

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements(a)

FRD 21C Disclosures of responsible persons, Executive Officers and 
other Personnel (contractors with significant management 
responsibilities) in the financial report

77–78

FRD 103H Non-financial physical assets 49

FRD 110A Cash flow statements 50, 67

FRD 112D Defined benefit superannuation obligations 56, 58

FRD 114C Financial instruments – general government entities and public 
non-financial corporations

68–71

(a)	 References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs do not 
contain requirements that are in the nature of disclosure.

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982 39

Building Act 1993 39

Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 41

Carers Recognition Act 2012 –

Disability Act 2006 –

Local Jobs Act 2003 40

Financial Management Act 1994 36, 45, 77
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